Public Document Pack

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3)
Tuesday 19th February, 2019
6.30 pm
Room 3.1, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 5HR
Councillors:
Melvyn Caplan (Chairman)
Angela Harvey
Selina Short
Ruth Bush

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the
ground floor reception from 6.00pm. If you have a disability
and require any special assistance please contact the
Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of the
meeting.

T

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter. If you require
any further information, please contact the Committee
Officer, Georgina Wills, Committee and Governance Officer.
Tel: 020 7641 7513; Email: gwills@westminster.gov.uk
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact
the Head of Legal & Democratic Services in advance of the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
To note any changes to the membership.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by members and officers of the existence
and nature of any personal or prejudicial interests in matters on
this agenda.

3.

MINUTES

(Pages 5 - 10)

To sign the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record of
proceedings.
4.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS
Applications for decision
Schedule of Applications
1.

ST MARK'S CHURCH, NORTH AUDLEY STREET,
LONDON, W1K 6DP

(Pages 13 - 48)

2.

STRATHMORE COURT, 143 PARK ROAD, LONDON,
NW8 7HY

(Pages 49 - 72)

3.

WHITCOMB STREET CARPARK, 39 - 41WHITCOMB
STREET, LONDON, WC2H 7DT

(Pages 73 - 96)

4.

8 MONMOUTH ROAD, LONDON, W2 5SB

(Pages 97 108)

5.

SECOND FLOOR FLAT, 19 WESTBOURNE STREET,
LONDON, W2 2TZ

(Pages 109 120)

PART B (CONFIDENTIAL)
That under Section 100 (A) (4) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public and press
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business
because it relates to a claim to legal professional privilege which
could be maintained in legal proceedings and it is considered
that, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.

6.

Item

Grounds

6

The Reports involve the
likely disclosure of
exempt information
relating to financial or
business affairs.
Para. 3

Para. of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the
Act

25 ACACIA ROAD, LONDON, NW8 6AN,

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
11 February 2019

(Pages 121 138)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER

Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3)
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee (3) held on
Tuesday 15th January, 2019, Room 3.1, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 5HR.
Members Present: Councillors Melvyn Caplan (Chairman), Angela Harvey, David
Boothroyd and Elizabeth Hitchcock.
1

MEMBERSHIP

1.1

There were no changes to the membership.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.1

Councillor Melvyn Caplan explained that a week before the meeting, all four
Members of the Committee were provided with a full set of papers including a
detailed officer’s report on each application; together with bundles of every
single letter or e-mail received in respect of every application, including all
letters and e-mails containing objections or giving support. Members of the
Committee read through everything in detail prior to the meeting. Accordingly,
if an issue or comment made by a correspondent was not specifically
mentioned at this meeting in the officers’ presentation or by Members of the
Committee, it did not mean that the issue had been ignored. Members will
have read about the issue and comments made by correspondents in the
papers read prior to the meeting.

2.2

Councillor Angela Harvey declared that she was married to Cllr David Harvey,
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economic Development. With regard
to item 1, she declared that his team had worked on certain aspects, however
she felt that this did not invalidate her ability to sit on the Committee. She also
declared that as Lord Mayor she had received hospitality from the Applicant in
2012.

2.3

Councillor David Boothroyd declared that he was the Head of Research and
Psephology for Thorncliffe, whose clients were companies applying for
planning permission from various local authorities. No current schemes are in
Westminster; if there were he would be precluded from working on them
under the company’s code of conduct. With regard to item 1, he declared that
some Thorncliffe clients had engaged DP9 as planning consultants, who are
also representing the applicants. However he did not deal directly with clients

Page 5

1

or other members of project teams, and planning consultants are not
themselves clients. He declared that he was also a member of the committee
in 2009 which decided the Lord’s floodlight application.

3

MINUTES

3.1

RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th December 2018 be signed by
the Chairman as a correct record of proceedings.

4

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1

Lord’s Cricket Ground, Ground Floor, St John's Wood Road, London,
NW8 8QN

Demolition of the existing Compton & Edrich stands and redevelopment comprising
the erection of a new stand to provide up to 11,500 seats, relocation of the existing
floodlights, provision of new hospitality facilities, retail and food and beverage floor
space, hard and soft landscaping, servicing facilities, and all necessary ancillary and
enabling works, plant and equipment.

A late representation was received from DP9 (11.01.19)
A late representation was received from Councillor Robert Digby (14.01.19)
A late representation was received from DP9 (14.01.19)
A late representation was received from Attwaters Jameson Hill Solicitors (14.01.19)
The presenting officer tabled the following amended conditions:
Rewording of Condition 3 to omit word “hours of use” to read:
A detailed Operational Management Plan for the event/restaurant spaces within the
second floor of the stand shall be submitted to and approved by the City Council as
local planning authority 3 months prior to their use.
The Operational Management Plan shall include measures to mitigate noise
disturbance to local residents both on match days and non-match days. The use
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plan.
Reason: As drafted
Rewording of Condition 8 to read:
No demolition of the Clock Tower or Full Toss Bar building shall take place until a
written scheme of historic building investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority in writing. For buildings that are included
within the WSI, no demolition or development shall take place other than in
accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement of significance
and research objectives and

Page 6

2

A. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the
nomination of a competent person (s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works.
B. The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis,
publication &dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the
condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI.
Reason: As drafted
Rewording of Condition 9 to read:
The permission for the use of the floodlights being relocated shall be limited until 22
January 2020. On or before the expiry date of this permission, the floodlights and
masts shall be removed from the ground.
Reason: As drafted
Rewording of Condition 16 to read:
No alcoholic drinks shall be served within the Ground beyond 21.00 hours at floodlit
cricket matches (except for the Pavilion where alcohol can be served until
23:00hrs Monday to Saturday and 22:30 hrs on Sunday).
Reason: As drafted
Rewording of Condition 37 to read:
Prior to the removal or pruning of trees 693, 701, 702, 703 and 705 proposed as part
of the development, they must be inspected by a tree climbing arborist in the
presence of a licensed bat worker for the presence of bat roosts as outlined in the
submitted Ecological Appraisal.
Reason: As drafted
Paragraph 8.12 b) of the Committee Report should read:
Mayors CIL payment of £115,700.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:
Granted as per agenda with additional S106 clause requiring a contribution of
£50,000 towards tree planting outside the site.
1. Grant conditional permission, subject to referral to the Mayor of London and
subject to the completion of a section 106 agreement to secure:
a) A carbon offset payment of up to £26,220 (index linked and payable on
commencement of development).
b) Mayor’s CIL payment of £115,700 and
c) Offering local employment opportunities during construction and operation of the
new stands and

Page 7

3

d) S106 Monitoring costs.
2. If the S106 legal agreement has not been completed within 6 weeks of the date of
the Sub-Committee’s resolution then:
a) The Director of Place Shaping and Planning shall consider whether it would be
possible and appropriate to issue the permission with additional conditions
attached to secure the benefits listed above. If so, the Director of Planning is
authorised to determine and issue the decision under Delegated Powers;
however, if not;
b) The Director of Planning shall consider whether the permission should be refused
on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits
which would have been secured; if so, the Director of Planning is authorised to
determine the application and agree appropriate reasons for refusal under
Delegated Powers.

2

First To Third Floor, 64-65 Long Acre, London, WC2E 9SX

Use of part ground, first, second, third and new internal mezzanine floors as eight
residential dwellings (Class C3); installation of footbridge across internal lightwell at
second floor level, plant machinery and internal lift; associated external alterations,
including changes to fenestration.
A late representation was received from Salus (11.01.2019).
The presenting officer tabled the following amended conditions:
Condition 11 (Revised wording):
The glass that you put in the windows at first and second floor levels in the internal
lightwell that serve Flats 1A, 1B, 2A and 2B must not be clear glass and must be
fixed shut. The glass that you put in the windows in the main rear elevation at first
and second floor levels that serve Flats 1C, 2C and 2D must not be clear glass and
shall be fitted with devices to limit the extent of opening. You must apply to us for
approval of a sample of the glass (at least 300mm square) and full particulars of the
window opening restrictors. You must not start work on the relevant parts of the
development until we have approved the details. You must then fit the type of glass
and restrictors we have approved and must not change them without our permission.
Condition 16 (Revised wording):
You must not occupy any of the residential units until we have approved appropriate
arrangements to secure the following.
-A scheme to mitigate on-street parking demand for the additional residential units
proposed.
In the case of each of the above benefits, you must include in the arrangements
details of when you will provide the benefits, and how you will guarantee this timing.
You must only carry out the development according to the approved arrangements.
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:

Page 8

4

Granted as per agenda
Grant conditional permission, including a condition to secure the following benefits:
1) Mitigation of the potential increased demand for on street residents parking.

The Meeting ended at 7.50 pm.

CHAIRMAN:

DATE

Page 9

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 19th February 2019
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

Item No
1.

References
RN(s) :
18/10222/FULL
18/10223/LBC

Site Address
St Mark's
Church
North Audley
Street
London
W1K 6DP

West End

Proposal
Use of the property for mixed use ('sui generis')
purposes, comprising a mix of retail, and food market
with retail and food and drink facilities and use of part
of the basement as community space, with
associated internal and external alterations
throughout, including installation of balustrades at
first floor level, internal lift, plant, ducting, pizza oven,
and external light fittings for the front facade. (Linked
to 18/10223/LBC)

Resolution

Recommendation
1. Grant conditional permission subject to a legal agreement to secure the following:
i) setting up of a committee to manage the community space and guarantee its long-term running costs on behalf
of local groups/residents at nil cost;
ii) Monitoring costs of £500 for the above clause.
2. If the S106 legal agreement has not been completed within six weeks, then:
a) The Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing shall consider whether the permission can be issued
with additional conditions attached to secure the benefits listed above. If this is possible and appropriate, the
Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing is authorised to determine and issue such a decision under
Delegated Powers; however, if not
b) The Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing shall consider whether permission should be refused
on the grounds that it has not proved possible to complete an agreement within an appropriate timescale, and
that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have been secured; if so, the
Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing is authorised to determine the application and agree
appropriate reasons for refusal under Delegated Powers.
3. Grant conditional listed building consent.
4. Agree the reasons for granting listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft decision letter.
Item No
2.

References
RN(s) :
18/10340/FULL

Regent's Park

Site Address
Strathmore
Court
143 Park
Road
London
NW8 7HY

Proposal
Erection of three storey rear extension at fourth, fifth
and sixth floor levels. Alterations to rear elevation
and installation of terraces. Infill of lightwell at ground
floor level. Alterations to roof dormers to provide
access to terraces. Installation of rooftop plant
equipment. Alterations and addition of windows and
doors. All in association with the reconfiguration of
existing flats and creation of nine additional dwellings
(Class C3).

Recommendation
Grant conditional permission including a condition to secure car club membership

Page 11
dcagcm091231

Resolution

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB COMMITTEE – 19th February 2019
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED
Item No
3.

References
RN(s) :
18/07140/FULL

St James's

Site Address
Whitcomb
Street
Carpark
39 - 41
Whitcomb
Street
London
WC2H 7DT

Proposal
Continued use of Levels 12 - 16 of car park (Sui
Generis Use) as temporary office, construction
welfare and storage area (Sui Generis Use) with
screening to elevations associated with the
construction of the Leicester Square Hotel opposite
until 1 June 2020.

Resolution

Proposal
Erection of rear boundary wall.

Resolution

Proposal
Application 1: Amendments to planning permission
dated 4 September 2018 (RN: 18/06281/FULL) for
the: Replacement of rear elevation metal window at
second floor level with new timber window. NAMELY,
to amend the window design (Linked to
18/10696/LBC).
Application 2: Variation of Condition 1 of listed
building consent dated 4 September 2018 (RN:
18/06282/LBC) for the replacement of rear elevation
metal window at second floor level with a new timber
window; NAMELY to amend the window design
(Linked to 18/10390/NMA).

Resolution

Recommendation
Grant conditional permission
Item No
4.

References
RN(s) :
18/05450/FULL

Site Address
8 Monmouth
Road
London
W2 5SB

Bayswater
Recommendation
Grant conditional permission.
Item No
5.

References
RN(s) :
18/10390/NMA
18/10696/LBC

Hyde Park

Site Address
Second Floor
Flat
19
Westbourne
Street
London
W2 2TZ

Recommendation
1. Agree non-material amendment.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree reasons for granting conditional listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft decision
letter.

Page 12
dcagcm091231

Agenda Item 1
Item No.
1

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

19 February 2019

For General Release

Report of

Ward(s) involved

Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing

West End

Subject of Report

St Mark's Church, North Audley Street, London, W1K 6DP

Proposal

Use of the property for mixed use ('sui generis') purposes, comprising a
mix of retail, and food market with retail and food and drink facilities and
use of part of the basement as community space, with associated
internal and external alterations throughout, including installation of
balustrades at first floor level, internal lift, plant, ducting, pizza oven,
and non-illuminated signage to the front facade.

Agent

Gerald Eve LLP

On behalf of

MM Mayfair Ltd

Registered Number

18/10222/FULL
18/10223/LBC

Date Application
Received

1 December 2018

Historic Building Grade

Grade I

Conservation Area

Mayfair

1.

Date amended/
completed

1 December 2018

RECOMMENDATION

1. Grant conditional permission subject to a legal agreement to secure the following:
i) setting up of a committee to manage the community space and guarantee its long-term running
costs on behalf of local groups/residents at nil cost;
ii) Monitoring costs of £500 for the above clause.
2. If the S106 legal agreement has not been completed within six weeks, then:
a) The Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing shall consider whether the permission can
be issued with additional conditions attached to secure the benefits listed above. If this is possible
and appropriate, the Director of Planning is authorised to determine and issue such a decision under
Delegated Powers; however, if not
b) The Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing shall consider whether permission should
be refused on the grounds that it has not proved possible to complete an agreement within an
appropriate timescale, and that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that
would have been secured; if so, the Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing is authorised to
determine the application and agree appropriate reasons for refusal under Delegated Powers.

Page 13

Item No.
1

3. Grant conditional listed building consent.
4. Agree the reasons for granting listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 of the draft
decision letter.

2.

SUMMARY

This is an important Grade I listed building that has had a long planning history since it was formally
made redundant by the Church of England (Diocese of London) and closed for public worship in
1974. The most relevant recent planning and listed building consents date from 2016, when approval
was granted for a mix of restaurant and retail uses, with part of the basement retained for community
use. That scheme has been partially implemented, in that the building has been fully restored, which
very welcome. It was envisaged that the premises would be used for a ‘high-end’ restaurant at first
floor level and retail at ground floor level. The current proposals now would be far more accessible
for the general public, creating a food market with a number of different stalls selling a wider variety
of food and beverages that people can browse, purchase or stay and eat, as well as some dedicated
retail stalls.
The key issues are considered to be:



The potential impact of the use on the amenity of the area and on neighbouring residents;
The acceptability of the works in the context of this Grade I listed building.

There have been no objections from local residents but concerns have been raised by Historic
England and The Victorian Society about some of the proposed works.
For the reasons set out in the main report, is considered that exceptional circumstances apply in the
context of Council policies in support of the proposals, given that the proposed food market use
would deliver a community function within a listed building that was previously on the Heritage at
Risk Register and allow the building to be publically accessible for the wider community.

Page 14

Item No.
1

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 15

Item No.
1

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

St Mark’s – North Audley Street

Page 16

Item No.
1

St Mark’s – Balderton Street entrance

St Mark’s – interior

Page 17

Item No.
1

5.

CONSULTATIONS
HISTORIC ENGLAND
 Note that the originally approved staircase in the nave will be omitted from this
proposal – this removes one harmful element of the permitted scheme;
 The visual impact of the new food stall units will marginally detract from the
appreciation of parts of the building but the removal of the stair is likely to balance
this additional harm, so there is no objection aesthetic grounds to the stalls;
 But do have concerns about the potential impact of cooking on the building fabric
and the strengthening works for the pizza oven - would like more information on this;
 Recommend retention of three pews that would be removed and stored;
 Concerned about potential harm to the building fabric caused by the high level
signage on the front façade.
Following submission of additional information:
 Acknowledge that the strengthening works caused a degree of harm but that this is
relatively limited and is partly reversible;
 Welcome the retention of the pews in the building and the removal of the lighting
element to the proposed portico entablature signage – no longer raise any concerns
about these elements of the proposals;
 Remain concerned about the intensity of the proposed use and the implications of
the internal cooking and request additional safeguarding conditions to mitigate any
potential harmful effects.
THE VICTORIAN SOCIETY
 Do not object in principle to the proposed new use but are concerned about the
intensity of the use, kiosks and other furnishings and the potential harm to the
building’s fabric;
 Question whether the intensity of the use is necessary to make the operation
financially viable and that this needs to be weighed against the conservation of the
building and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 Share the concerns of Historic England about the possible effects of cooking on the
important interior – not only from cooking fumes but food spillages and that further
information should be sought;
 Share Historic England’s concerns about the structural strengthening requirements
of the pizza oven, but also effects on the building fabric and finishes from the oven
heat;
 Reiterate concern [expressed in the 2016 scheme] about the treatment of the visible
edge of the levelled gallery floor, visible from within the nave;
 Comment that the glass balustrade to the balcony should be as clear as possible, to
allow appreciation of the building’s interior.
THE GEORGIAN GROUP
Any response to be reported verbally.
COUNCIL FOR BRITISH ARCHAEOLOGY (LONDON AND MIDDLESEX
ARCHAEOLOGICAL SOCIETY)
Any response to be reported verbally.

Page 18

Item No.
1

SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF ANCIENT BUILDINGS
Any response to be reported verbally.
TWENTIETH CENTURY SOCIETY
Any response to be reported verbally.
ANCIENT MONUMENTS SOCIETY
Any response to be reported verbally.
CROSSRAIL
Do not wish to make any comment.
DESIGNING OUT CRIME
Any response to be reported verbally.
GROSVENOR-MAYFAIR RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION
Initial objections/concerns about transport, the community space, basement acoustics,
waste and recycling collections and potential noise from plant subsequently withdrawn.
MAYFAIR RESIDENTS GROUP
Any response to be reported verbally.
RESIDENTS SOCIETY OF MAYFAIR & ST. JAMES'S
Any response to be reported verbally.
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES
No objection
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER
Initial objection withdrawn following submission of addition information about waste and
recycling.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER
 Generally consider the proposal to be acceptable;
 Has requested the submission of a revised Service Management Plan (SMP) to
include details about the proposed off-site consolidation hub that will be used to coordinate and manage deliveries to the site, which should help reduce the number of
service trips;
 Also request that no food delivery service should operate from the premises (to help
minimise congestion on the highway).
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 305; Total No. of replies: 1; No. of objections: 0; No. in support: 1 –
One letter in support from a local resident but with a query about potential disruption
from third party delivery services and whether this can be controlled by condition.
PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE: Yes

Page 19

Item No.
1

Grosvenor Estate also carried out its own public consultations. A public exhibition on the
proposals was held at the premises on Wednesday 17th and 18th October 2018. Prior to
the event, invitations were sent out to local residents and businesses, including:
 The Residents Society of Mayfair and St James;
 Peabody Residents;
 Mayfair Neighbourhood Forum;
 Mayfair Residents Forum;
 New West End Company;
 Ward Councillors; and
 Over 500 invitations for local residents and stakeholders.
The applicant advises that feedback received following the event was positive and
suggested that local residents would welcome a community focussed project, which
would provide dedicated community space for use by local groups in an inclusive food
market environment.
6.
6.1

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Application Site
St Mark’s Church is a Grade I listed building, located within the Mayfair Conservation
Area and the Core Central Activities Zone (CAZ). Built between 1825 and 1828 by JP
Gandy-Deering and re-modelled by Sir Arthur Blomfield in 1878, it is located on the east
side of North Audley Street, with only its front (west-facing elevation) presenting a streetfacing elevation. The building extends back from the street nearly the entire block and
there is a separate access to the basement/crypt level from Balderton Street via a tunnel
passage. As well as the basement crypt, there is the main ground floor, a galleried first
floor and roof space. The total floorspace is 1,945 sqm (GIA). The lawful use is Class D1
non-residential institutional use but a permission in 2016 for alternative uses has been
partially implemented (see below).
The church was formally made redundant by the Church of England (Diocese of London)
and closed for public worship in June 1974. The legal effects of consecration were finally
removed in November 1994. The building was vacant for this 20 year period and fell into
a state of some disrepair. The building was on English Heritage’s Buildings at Risk
Register from 1988 but following some limited repairs it was eventually taken off the List.
From 1994 until 2008 it was leased to the Commonwealth Christian Fellowship, a free
Evangelical Church. Originally lessees of the building, they had been unable to do the
significant repair and restoration works the building requires and for several years the
Diocese allowed them to remain in a caretaker capacity. Their occupation continued on
an occasional basis after a long lease was sold to Hammer Holdings, who used the
building as a venue, conference and exhibition centre with some community use and
worship, all within Class D1. This use partly continued after the Grosvenor Estate bought
the long lease in 2014, when the Commonwealth Christian Fellowship moved to 1
Marylebone Road in 2014.
The site is located within the northern part of Mayfair, towards the northern end of North
Audley Street, just south of Oxford Street. The surrounding area is varied in character,
with a mix of uses, including commercial, retail and residential. This is not a Stress Area.

Page 20

Item No.
1

6.2

Relevant Planning History
There is a long planning history for this property, which provides important context for
the current proposals.
Older history (none implemented unless otherwise stated)
April 1979 - Planning permission and listed building consent refused for alterations and
use as a shopping arcade on grounds of adverse impact on the special architectural and
historic interest of the building.
October 1984 - Permission refused for use as a restaurant and local residents meeting
room on grounds of traffic and parking, residential amenity and absence of off-street
servicing facilities.
August 1986 - Permission granted for retail art gallery.
August 1986 - The Planning Applications Sub-Committee also considered applications
for planning permission and listed building consent for use as a restaurant, retention of
sound studios in vaults and various alterations. It was determined that had appeals not
been lodged, the proposals would have been refused on grounds of parking and traffic,
residential amenity, lack of off-street servicing and lack of details with regard to the
proposed works. In February 1987 the appeal was dismissed however, only on the
grounds that the listed building consent was insufficiently detailed. The Inspector
considered that restaurant use was acceptable in principle, that the impact on residential
amenity could be controlled by conditions, and that parking and servicing would not be
seriously problematic.
March 1988 - Permission and listed building consent granted for alterations and use as
an art auction house and gallery and venue for related educational activities.
June 1988 - Determination made that use as a museum does not constitute development.
October 1990 - Permission and listed building consent refused for extensions and use as
offices. Refusal was on design, office policy and residential policy grounds (the scheme
would have resulted in the loss of residential accommodation at an adjacent property
included as part of the proposals).
October 1993 – Applications considered for planning permission and listed building
consent for use as a restaurant, installation of a fire escape and ventilation duct and
other internal and external alterations. The Sub-Committee decided that, had appeals
not been made, listed building consent would have been refused on the grounds of an
adverse impact on the special architectural and historic interest of the building and
planning permission would have been refused on additional grounds of an adverse
impact on residential amenity. The appeals were withdrawn.
November 2000 - The Planning Applications Sub-Committee considered applications for
internal and external alterations including new escape stairs, new roof plant and signage
and mixed use of premises as (Class B1) offices and for the provision of community
facilities including concerts, exhibitions and public worship. The Committee deferred the

Page 21

Item No.
1

applications requesting further information on the level and type of community use and
the applicant’s business plans for the proposal and for officers to investigate an
alternative scheme being advocated by local amenity societies. The applications were
eventually withdrawn a year later.
September 2003 - The Council published an adopted Planning Brief for the site. At this
time the building was owned by the Diocese of London and the purpose of the brief was
to secure the future long-term use and restoration of the building. It states that any new
use must also deliver 1. Repair of the church
2. Conservation of the architectural and historical importance of the existing fabric
3. Provision of a new and sustainable use which would adhere to the Central Activities
Zone policy requirements
4. Minimal impact on surrounding residential amenity
5. Provision of some form of public access.
The Brief is still a material consideration, though obviously the situation has changed to
the extent that there is now a new long leaseholder and there have been subsequent
planning permissions since it was published that must also be taken into account.
April 2006 – An Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness issued in respect of the
proposed use of the building as a complementary medical health centre ("wellness
health and therapy centre") being primarily (but not exclusively) therapeutic thermal
treatments in the basement and adjoining outside area, and holistic/alternative medical
treatments (including health counselling, stress management, homeopathy, etc.) on
ground and first floor/balcony levels, with ancillary maintenance, laundry and changing
areas, cafe and kitchen and dispensing and retail areas.
April 2008 – An Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness issued in respect of the
proposed use of the premises as a venue and conference centre including use for
worship, religious purposes and community use, all within Class D1.
December 2008 – Planning permission and listed building consent refused on land use
and historic building grounds for ‘Change of use from Class D1 church use to a
composite use of Class D1 Non-residential Institutional Use (specifically complementary
medical health centre use) and Class D2 Assembly and Leisure Use (specifically
recreational use), including ancillary retail area, with internal and external alterations
including staircase extension, structures within garden area, railings and gates on North
Audley Street frontage and internal sub-division.’
December 2009 – following a Public Inquiry, the appeals against the December 2008
refusals were dismissed.
June 2009 – planning permission and listed building consent granted for the installation
of new entrance gates in the front portico and handrails on the steps.
August 2010 – planning permission and listed building consent granted for internal and
external alterations and works of repair/conservation/decoration to facilitate use as a
venue, conference and exhibition centre with some community use and worship within

Page 22

Item No.
1

Class D1, including a kitchen infill extension, kitchen extract duct/plant and decking and
railings on roof of main entrance (next to tower) to create roof terrace. This was partially
implemented, but not all the restoration works were carried out.
Recent history
Planning permission and listed building consent were granted to the Grosvenor Estate
(‘Grosvenor’) in November 2016 for use of the property for sui generis purposes,
comprising a mix of retail (Class A1) on the ground floor, first floor/balcony as restaurant
(Class A3, including external roof terrace at front first/balcony level), part of basement for
ancillary back of house functions for both the retail and restaurant uses, and part use of
basement as community space (Class D1) with access from Balderton Street; single
storey extension to north west part of building, extension to south east corner and
corridor and duct void extension to the rear; installation of various items of mechanical
plant including kitchen extract; internal alterations throughout.
The permission was subject to a legal agreement that secured the complete restoration
and refurbishment of the building before any of the approved uses commence, and
required the setting up of a committee to manage the community space and guarantee
its long-term running costs on behalf of local groups/residents at nil cost.
These consents have been partially implemented, insofar as the physical works to
restore the building have largely been carried out, but Grosvenor were looking for an
appropriate operator to use the building.
7.

THE PROPOSAL
Grosvenor as the landlord has chosen Mercato Metropolitano (MM) as its tenant to
provide a mix of retail and a food ‘market’ in the building. In land use terms, this amends
the 2016 balance of approved land uses. As a food market, the MM business would
involve a mix of retail and ‘restaurant’ uses throughout the building, with ‘market type
stands’ selling a range of food, drinks and produce. Seating is provided at all levels for
those wishing to stay and eat on the premises, or alternatively people can buy produce
from the shop and stands such as ice-creams, coffees, wines, cheese, bread, fresh fruit
and vegetables etc. to take away.
Overall, there would be 305 sqm GIA of pure Class A1-type retail use (primarily at the
entrance and front of the building), and 1,371 sqm GIA of Class A1/ A3-type mix food
market, of which 387 sqm GIA would be back of house space storage space, toilets, etc.
The proposals would retain the quantum of Class D1 floorspace as approved in the 2016
permissions (231 sqm – though more accurate surveys indicate this is now 269 sqm
GIA), and the community space at basement level would continue to be delivered, as
previously approved. Grosvenor believe that MM will play a key role in the community,
and allow the building at St Mark’s to be open for the enjoyment of all. Emphasis has
been placed on MM’s embedded social, environmental and community values.
Now that an operator has been selected for the building, a number of physical
amendments are required to the originally approved scheme, to assist in the fit out for
the tenant’s operation. The key changes are summarised as follows:

Page 23

Item No.
1

Basement Level
It is proposed to create a mix of retail stalls and seating throughout part of the basement,
along with the proposed brewery area. The community space would be retained. A new
glass partition is proposed within the crypt.
Ground Floor
The proposed works include the provision of island units for food preparation in the
nave, with a number of tables and chairs for ‘communal’ eating. The cooking stations
have self-contained filtration systems. The applicant has confirmed that for the gas and
solid fuel cooking items to be extracted to the atmosphere, the previously approved and
installed full height kitchen extraction system will be used.
The originally approved scheme consisted of a straight long staircase within the nave
and a lift. Instead, it is now proposed to introduce a new DDA-compliant lift only to make
the balcony accessible from ground floor level, and to reduce clutter in the nave. (Access
from the ground floor to the first floor/balcony and the basement is still possible via
existing stairs in other parts of the building.)
First Floor / Balcony Level
It is proposed to relocate the WCs on this level and to create a mix of retail units and
seating, with glass balustrades along the perimeter. The west balcony stairs are
proposed to be reconfigured, whilst the terrace will continue to be used as it was
originally envisaged as part of the approved scheme, namely eating. A pizza oven is
proposed in the west corner of the north balcony, with the extraction duct to travel across
to the south gallery in a concealed position.
Externally, the main change is the proposed installation of new signage along the
cornice and above the columns at the front entrance of the building which will state
“Mercato Mayfair”. It was initially proposed that this signage would be externally
illuminated, but following concerns raised by Historic England, it has been revised and
now would be non-illuminated.
8.
8.1

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
Land Use
8.1.1

Loss of Majority of the Class D1 social and community floorspace

Although the 2016 permission allowed a mix of retail and restaurant uses, these have
not commenced and technically the lawful use of St. Mark's church remains Class D1
non-residential institutional use. Class D1 encompasses a wide range of non-residential
institutions, and groups together buildings which are visited by the public for a wide
range of purposes on a non-residential basis. It includes the provision of education, adult
training centres, museums, art galleries, public halls and exhibition halls, conference
centres as well as uses in connection with public worship or religious instruction. Such
uses can be provided in both a public and private capacity.
Class D1 is a use that is defined by the City Council’s adopted development plan
policies as being a social and community use. Policy SOC1 in the Unitary Development

Page 24

Item No.
1

Plan (January 2007) (UDP) and Policy S34 in Westminster’s City Plan: Strategic Policies
November 2016 (City Plan) both seek to protect existing social and community uses.
However, in 2016 the Council accepted the principle of loss of the majority of the Class
D1 use as the proposals then being promoted would secure the restoration of this
important Grade I listed building (estimated at the time at about £4m). That permission
has been partly implemented (by carrying out the physical works) and therefore the
building could be used at any time for the approved mix of retail and restaurant activities.
That permission was conditional upon a small area being retained for community
purposes. The current proposals retrain that community space, which is welcomed.
The applicant has stressed their important community work, as evidenced by their
existing food market and associated uses in Elephant and Castle. Whilst this is also
welcomed, it is also important to ensure that this space is made accessible to the wider
community, and is not subsumed as part of MM’s main activities.
In their 2016 scheme, it was Grosvenor's intention to create a committee from local
stakeholders which will be given a long lease to run and manage the community space
in the crypt. The space was to be free for use for the local community for non-profit
events but if an organization wished to hire the space for a commercial use, it was
envisaged that any funds received would go into the charity funds for continued upkeep
and maintenance. It was believed that the cost for utilities would amount to circa £5,000
per annum without any further funding; Grosvenor were prepared to set up a fund of
£50,000 to make sure that the first 10 years of operation are fully covered. By that time,
it is envisaged that the charity would have built up sufficient funds to keep the space
self-funding for the future.
The applicant states that it will, in conjunction with Grosvenor, work closely with key
stakeholders in Mayfair in order to create innovative programmes, including:
i). Programmes of free cookery classes for local children and adults focussed on
healthy eating, improving skills and raising confidence in the kitchen;
ii). Free meals and social activities for older, local residents to help address loneliness
and social isolation;
iii). Developing and hosting events that address inequality in the borough and encourage
social cohesion;
iv). Making the community space available for residents and stakeholder meetings, art,
music and cultural classes, including book clubs and keep fit programmes;
v). Working with local residents committees, schools, social enterprises, charities and
businesses to create tailored programmes and events that add value to local residents
and address the issues faced within the community.
The community space will be accessible from both the main entrance on North Audley
Street, and the rear tunnel from Balderton Street, whereas previously, the Class D1
element was accessible only from Balderton Street. Grosvenor will remain involved and
will oversee the community space committee, as previously agreed, and the community
committee will oversee and approve the events and activities held in the community
space. The applicant will manage the community space on behalf of the Committee. As
before, it is important to secure the running and accessibility of the community space for
the wider community through a legal agreement.

Page 25

Item No.
1

8.1.2

Retail and Restaurant Uses

Retail
The 2016 approved scheme allowed retail at ground floor level. The current proposal is a
sui generis mixed use, comprising elements of retail and food and drink in the form of a
food ‘market hall’ comprising independent traders, small-scale artisans and farmers, and
local providers, where customers can either eat on the premises, or purchase a large
variety of food products to take home or elsewhere.
As requested by Council officers, the proposals consist of a minimum amount 305 sqm
GIA of Class A1-type retail only, to secured by condition. It is envisaged that this area
would be used for the selling of fruits and vegetables, flowers, the bakery, coffee and
cheeses. A minimum number of stands will be solely used for retail purposes, occupying
all of the entrance areas (the portico and narthex) and seven stands in the nave.
The existing MM site located in Elephant and Castle (which has been in operation for
two and a half years) comprises a mix of social eating and drinking, shopping and onpremises consumption. The applicant advises that in September 2018, sales purchased
for consumption off-site were in excess of 25%, with the grocery store, ice cream,
viennoiserie, butcher, smokehouse, champagne & cheese, fresh pasta and the
mozzarella traders contributing to the bulk of the Class A1 sales. In Mayfair, MM expect
to achieve a much larger share of A1 sales throughout the market, with the grocery
store, butcher/fishmonger traders, patisserie, chocolatier and fresh pasta expected to
reach at least 35% of their sales as retail sales.
The site is located within the Core Central Activities Zone, and is just south of Oxford
Street and the West End Special Retail Policy Area. The protection and enhancement of
retail shopping provision is supported under City Plan Policies S1, S6 and S21 and UDP
Policy SS 4. North Audley Street has a mix of retail and restaurant activities at ground
floor level and the provision in retail floorspace is considered to be acceptable in
principle. Notwithstanding the prominence of the building itself, there will be minimal
street presence for the proposed uses but the intention is that there would be retail stalls
within the entrance portico. This should be sufficient to improve the interface and
relationship of the building with the streetscape on North Audley Street.
Food and Drink
The food market hall contains elements of retail and restaurant-type activities, and
although it is hard to differentiate between the two uses, it contains a significant element
of on-site eating and drinking. As such it is considered appropriate to treat this as a large
entertainment use.
City Plan Policy S24 and UDP Policies TACE 8-10 deal with entertainment uses. The
TACE policies are on a sliding scale in which developments where TACE 8 is applicable
would be generally permissible and where TACE10 is applied (where the gross
floorspace exceeds 500m2) only in exceptional circumstances. City Plan Policy S24
requires proposals for new entertainment uses to demonstrate that they are appropriate
in terms of type and size of use, scale of activity, relationship to any existing
concentrations of entertainment uses and any cumulative impacts, and that they do not
adversely impact on residential amenity, health and safety, local environmental quality
and the character and function of the area. The policy states that new large-scale late-

Page 26

Item No.
1

night entertainment uses of over 500 sqm will not generally be appropriate within
Westminster. The Site is not located within a stress area.
The policies aim to control the location, size and activities of entertainment uses in order
to safeguard residential amenity, local environmental quality and the established
character and function of the various parts of the City, while acknowledging that they
provide services to people living in, working in and visiting Westminster and contribute to
its role as an entertainment centre of national and international importance.
The main food market space comprises 1,371 sqm GIA. Policy TACE 10, which covers
entertainment uses which will be permissible only in exceptional circumstances, is thus
applicable. The policy states that where, in exceptional circumstances, the City Council
decides to grant planning permission for large or very large entertainment uses, it will,
where necessary and appropriate, impose conditions to control capacity, hours of use,
etc. The 2016 permission for a restaurant was also assessed against policy TACE 10
and the committee agreed that there were exceptional circumstances, namely, restoring
a Grade I listed building (that had been on the Heritage at Risk Register) to be brought
back into active use, open to the general public and providing a community facility.
The approved restaurant at first floor level was limited to 140 covers, but there was no
limit to the number of customers to the ground floor retail area. The current proposal
increases the capacity of visitors: 320 seats/covers with a total maximum number of
customers of 500. The applicant has justified this by arguing that the previous
application related to a traditional restaurant concept, suitable to a high-end customer
base trading at a much higher price point required to cover the overheads associated
with trading from a prime location. Conversely, MM is an inclusive market concept,
focusing on a much wider customer base using communal tables and predicated on the
idea that everyone, regardless of their spending power, should be able to benefit from
the proposal.
Whilst the number of seats suggests an intensification of the on-site consumption of
food, the seating can be used for people just purchasing a coffee or an ice-cream in the
same way many retail uses such as Pret a Manger, Starbucks etc. do. The seating is not
just for those staying to eat a hot meal.
The applicant has requested the following opening hours:
08.00 – 23.00 hours, Sunday to Thursday;
08.00 – 00.00 hours (midnight), Friday to Saturday.
The 2016 permission restricted the opening hours of the restaurant to –
07.30 – 00.00 (midnight), Sundays to Thursday (including all bank holidays and public
holidays;
07.30 – 01.00 hours the following morning on Fridays and Saturdays.
The current proposal would therefore be open to the public 30 minutes later in the
morning and close an hour earlier every night, which is welcomed. With regard to the
external roof terrace at the front of the property next to the tower, the same hours of use

Page 27

Item No.
1

are being sought, namely 09.00 – 23.00 hours on Mondays to Saturdays and 09.0022.00 hours on Sundays (primarily to protect residents living in the adjoining properties).
An Operational Management Statement (OMP) has been submitted, which sets out
further information relating to how the proposed use will be operated and managed.
However, the document lacks certain details, such as how customers leaving the
premises late at night will be dispersed, and a condition requires an updated OMP to be
submitted. There has been no response from the Crime Prevention Design Officer, and
although the applicant has advised that there will be security staff employed at the
premises, the OMP needs to be updated to cover this issue.
Subject to appropriate conditions (including the submission of an updated operational
management plan), it is not considered that the proposals would have an adverse impact
on the character, function and amenity the local environment, bearing in mind the busy
nature of the area and the existing restaurants in the immediate vicinity. Nor is it
considered that there would be an adverse cumulative impact. Furthermore, the
substantial building fabric should help contain any noise generated noise by customers.
Intensity of use and internal cooking
Although it does not object in principle to the new use, the Victorian Society has
expressed concern about the intensity of the use, particularly from the density of stalls,
cooking and eating spillages and the high number of visitors. It comments that the
applicant has not provided any assessment to demonstrate that the intensity of the
proposed use is necessary to make the operation financially viable. The Society
considers that there is a risk of harm to the significance of this Grade I listed building and
that the Council should give great weight to its conservation (in accordance with para.
193 of the NPPF) and satisfy itself that the intense use has been clearly and
convincingly justified (in accordance with para. 194 of the NPPF).
Historic England has also expressed some concern about the intensity of the use and
the potential harm caused by the cooking stations/kiosks.
It is not considered that the intensity of use is so great as to potentially cause harm to
the building fabric. Originally built to house congregations of large groups of people, it is
considered to be suitable for the amount of customers that are anticipated. Most
importantly, the use should be welcomed as it will result in this important listed building
being wholly accessible to the general public. The Victorian Society’s implied suggestion
that there should be an assessment to demonstrate that the intensity of the proposed
use is necessary to make the operation financially viable is considered to be excessive.
With regard to the cooking stations, these semi-permanent units will be situated on a
demountable plinth with a back wall which discreetly houses servicing such as water and
electricity. The back wall will also be strong enough to support additional shelving,
storage and its extraction canopy. Each kiosk ensures that any paintings or windows are
not obstructed and remain clearly visible. Moreover, the kiosks are not attached to the
building fabric in any way.
The proposed Reco-Air systems for the individual cooking kiosks are electrically
operated and have an inbuilt recirculation ventilation system, engineered to remove
grease, stem, smoke and odour from the immediate area. Environmental Sciences are

Page 28

Item No.
1

satisfied with these proposals. The re-circulation system includes a cut off system, which
means that it will stop working if the maintenance regime is not carried out.
Manufacturers’ manuals have been submitted for these kiosks and a condition requires
the units to be maintained in accordance with them.
However, following discussions with Historic England, it is proposed to attach additional
safeguarding conditions that require the submission of regular condition reports of the
stained glass windows and the building fabric adjoining the cooking stations, and
requires details of any cleaning measures for the windows other than light dusting
(conditions 6 and 7 of the draft listed building consent). With these measures in place it
is considered that the concerns of Historic England and The Victorian Society have been
addressed and that the proposals are in compliance with the NPPF.
8.2

Townscape and Design
The building is a former church and has been comprehensively refurbished and restored
internally and externally. As part of the approved alterations, changes to the nave and
galleries included installation of a lift and staircase in the nave and creation of level
platforms in the galleries with glass balustrades. The staircase in the nave is now to be
omitted and the lift is to be built nearer the west end of the nave. These revisions will
greatly reduce the visual impact of the lift in the nave and allow much better views of the
former chancel and pulpit. At the request of Historic England, three pews that date from
when the building was in religious use that were to be removed and stored will now be
retained and used as part of the ground floor use.
Units are to be provided in the form of self-contained kiosks including cooking facilities.
Details of the extraction system and fire safety arrangements have been provided and
demonstrate sufficient commitment to ensuring that the kiosks will not have a detrimental
impact on the fabric of the building and its special architectural and historic interest. The
appearance of the kiosks has been designed to ensure their materials and finished
appearance are sensitive to their surroundings as far as possible. Concerns from
Historic England and The Victorian Society about the potential harm caused by the
cooking kiosks are addressed above. The proposed pizza oven will inevitably appear
incongruous in a building clearly not designed for the purpose for which it will now be
used. However, in the position proposed it is not particularly obvious and is therefore
considered to be acceptable.
Historic England and The Victorian Society had requested more information about the
strengthening works required to support the pizza oven at gallery level. The applicant
provided more information on this matter, which entails bolting steel plates to the ends of
two beams: Historic England comment that this shows that there will be no direct impact
on the building masonry and is partly reversible and no longer have concerns about this
element of the proposals. With regard to The Victorian Society’s comments about the
potential effects on the building fabric and finishes from the oven heat, the oven is
connected to the high level kitchen extract system which will help dissipate much of the
heat. The oven is built of brick which helps insulate it, and it is raised above the floor and
not immediately adjacent to the building’s fabric, so it is not considered that it will have
any adverse impact on the building. Other concerns about the potential impact of
cooking on the building are dealt with above.

Page 29

Item No.
1

The Victorian Society has reiterated concerns [expressed in the 2016 scheme] about the
treatment of the visible edge of the levelled gallery floor, visible from within the nave; it
comments that the glass balustrade to the balcony should be as clear as possible, to
allow appreciation of the building’s interior. However, this is considered to be impractical
given it would allow unobstructed views up from the ground floor and would still not
render the glass invisible. The use of obscured glass is, in this case, appropriate and
acceptable in heritage asset terms. It will be face-fixed to the new gallery floor and
scribed around the columns. On this basis, the objection from The Victorian Society is
not considered to be sustainable.
Further retail and dining areas are to be provided in the basement, along with a microbrewery and the previously approved community spaces, WCs etc. In the narthex, a
grocery/deli style space would operate from free standing furniture and it is envisaged
that this use would ‘spill out’ in to the portico.
Externally, pin-mounted lettering is to be applied to the portico fascia. Initially this was to
be externally illuminated but following concerns from Historic England, the applicant has
revised it to be non-illuminated, thereby ensuring that it is not obtrusive. On that basis,
the external advertising is acceptable in design and heritage asset terms.
8.3

Residential Amenity
Policy S29 of the City Plan and policy ENV 13 of the UDP seek to protect and improve
the residential environment and resist proposals which would result in a material loss of
amenity. The 2016 permission included a number of external alterations, including some
small extensions. The current proposals do not include any external extensions.
However, like the previous permission, this scheme does propose a roof terrace at attic
level on the external flat roof next to the tower fronting North Audley Street. Given that
there is residential accommodation on North Audley Street including either side of the
application site, it is again considered appropriate to condition the hours this terrace is
used to 09.00 to 23.00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 9.00 to 22.00 on Sundays.
Most of the mechanical plant was approved as part of the 2016 permission and would be
acceptable subject to standard conditions. This includes a high level kitchen extract duct
that has been installed and is required for the gas and solid fuel cooking items to be
extracted to the atmosphere, such as the pizza oven.. As explained in the land use
section above, most of the cooking stations are electrically operated and have an inbuilt
recirculation ventilation system (Reco-Air). The re-circulation system includes a cut off
system, which means that it will stop working if the maintenance regime is not carried
out. Manufacturers’ manuals have been submitted for these kiosks and a condition
requires the units to be maintained in accordance with them. Environmental Sciences
has previously confirmed that this system is an acceptable alternative to a full height
discharging system when food equipment is to operate by electricity only and they have
no objections to the current proposals.
It is noted that the Grosvenor-Mayfair Residents Association did have initial concerns
about transport issues, the community space, basement acoustics, waste and recycling
collections and potential noise from plant, but these concerns have subsequently been
withdrawn.

Page 30

Item No.
1

8.4

Transportation and Servicing (including Waste)
The site is very well located, with the highest possible Public Transport Accessibility
Level (PTAL) rating of 6b (assessed by Transport for London). It is located five minutes’
walk from Marble Arch underground station (Central line) and Bond Street underground
station (Central line and Jubilee line) and fifteen minutes’ walk from Oxford Circus
underground station (Victoria, Central and Bakerloo lines) and Green Park underground
station (Victoria, Jubilee and Piccadilly lines). Bond Street station will also have a
Crossrail station, currently scheduled to open late 2019. There are also numerous bus
routes running along Oxford Street to the north, Piccadilly to the south, Park Lane to the
west and Regent Street to the east of the Site.
A key aim of Council transport policy is to seek traffic reduction and saved Policy
TRANS15 outlines that it will encourage development which promotes the use of public
transport, cycling or walking. Policy TRANS 20 states that the City Council will require
convenient access to all premises for servicing vehicles and will, in most cases, require
that servicing needs are adequately accommodated, preferably off-street. Policy S42 of
the City Plan seeks to ensure that developments are managed in a way that minimises
adverse impacts, which may include the provision of off-site consolidation centres and
shared delivery arrangements. Policy S44 requires major new developments to provide
on-site recycling and waste management facilities.
No car parking spaces are proposed. The site is within a Controlled Parking Zone which
means anyone who does drive to the site will be subject to those controls. Residential
Bays are restricted to residents 24 hours a day 7 days a week with Single Yellows, Pay
and Shared Use bays restricted from 0830 to 1830 Monday to Saturday. Given the
public transport in the area and the parking restrictions it is considered unlikely to have a
significant impact on on-street car parking in the area.
The Transport Statement submitted as part of this application concludes that the
predicted traffic impact of the development will be very minor, equivalent to less than 20
two-way vehicle movements generated per hour. It is likely that the majority of this
vehicle activity will be taxi and private hire vehicle related. This additional movement will
be well within the natural daily traffic flow variation and, as such, does not require any
mitigation. The Highways Planning Manager considers that given the accessibility to
public transport in the area and the on-street restrictions, no significant harm to highway
safety or adverse pressure on highway infrastructure is likely to occur.
Policies S42 and TRANS20 require off-street servicing where possible. No off-street
servicing is possible given the constraints of the site. The site is located within a
Controlled Parking Zone, which means that locations single yellow lines in the vicinity
allow loading and unloading to occur. The proposed servicing strategy is for incoming
deliveries to be made from North Audley Street using the dedicated on-street facilities,
which is the same as existing.
However, the building’s basement will not be large enough to accommodate all of the
stock and additional off-site storage is required. The applicant is therefore proposing to
have an off-site storage location, which will enable a consolidated stock supply system
to be introduced. This would help to reduce the number of service trips and the impact of
the proposal on the public highway. This ‘consolidation hub’ has yet to be finalised and a

Page 31

Item No.
1

condition requires an updated service management plan to be submitted to include
these details.
The London Plan Policy 6.9 would require a minimum of 1 cycle parking space per
175m² of A1 and A3 class retail use, with a minimum of 2 spaces. Cycle parking for staff
will encourage sustainable transport use. Based on 1,676m², a minimum of 10 spaces is
required. 16 cycle parking spaces are indicated on the submitted drawing which is
welcome and will be secured by condition.
To minimise the impact of the use on the road network, the Highways Planning Manager
no delivery service should operate from this location. Delivery vehicles parking when
not in use can reduce the availability of parking for other uses.
Waste storage is required by policies S41 and TRANS3. The refuse and waste collection
takes place from Balderton Street and bins are stored by the entrance to the basement
tunnel. The bins will be moved close to the Balderton Street entrance ahead of
collection. The proposed arrangements are the same as what was approved in 2016.
The hours of refuse collection will be restricted to protect the amenity of residents living
in Balderton Street and Brown Hart Gardens.
8.5

Economic Considerations
The proposal provides an economically viable use that enables the re-use of this
important listed building. It also provides employment opportunities: the applicant
advises that a total of 40 full-time and 15 part-time staff will be employed. On this basis
the economic benefits are welcomed.

8.6

Access
The configuration and historical importance of the front portico precludes the installation
of a permanent ramp or other alteration for wheelchair access. Permission has
previously been granted for new gates to the portico, including a pair of handrails to help
access up the steps, and these have been installed. In this case the applicant proposes
to have a removable ramp that will be managed by a member of staff when required.
Although not ideal, it is considered to be the most suitable solution given the constraints
of this listed building. Once within the building, the proposed lift will provide wheelchair
access to all floors of the building.

8.7

Westminster City Plan
The City Council is currently working on a complete review of its City Plan. Informal
consultation on the first draft of Westminster’s City Plan 2019-2040 started on Monday
12 November 2018 and closed on Friday 21 December 2018. Following this informal
consultation, any representations received will be considered and the draft plan will be
revised in advance of formal consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Given the very early stage of
the consultation process and having regard to the tests set out in para. 48 of the NPPF,
the policies of the emerging draft City Plan are given little to no weight at the present
time.

Page 32

Item No.
1

8.8

Neighbourhood Plans
The submission version of the Mayfair Neighbourhood Plan has been submitted by
Mayfair Neighbourhood Forum to the council for consultation and an independent
examiner is due to be appointed shortly.

8.9

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues and is not referable to the Greater London
Authority.

8.10 National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan and UDP policies referred to in the consideration of this application are
considered to be consistent with the NPPF unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which
must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the
written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the
reason for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council.
No pre-commencement conditions are proposed in this case.
8.11 Planning Obligations
On 06 April 2010 the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations came into force
which make it unlawful for a planning obligation to be taken into account as a reason for
granting planning permission for a development, or any part of a development, whether
there is a local CIL in operation or not, if the obligation does not meet all of the following
three tests:
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development;
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
Policy S33 of the City Plan relates to planning obligations. It states that the Council will
require mitigation of the directly related impacts of the development; ensure the
development complies with policy requirements within the development plan; and if
appropriate, seek contributions for supporting infrastructure. Planning obligations and
any Community Infrastructure Levy contributions will be sought at a level that ensures
that the overall delivery of appropriate development is not compromised.
From April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended)
imposed restrictions on the use of planning obligations requiring the funding or provision
of a type of infrastructure or a particular infrastructure project. Where five or more
obligations relating to planning permissions granted by the City Council have been
entered into since 06 April 2010 which provide for the funding or provision of the same
infrastructure types or projects, it is unlawful to take further obligations for their funding

Page 33

Item No.
1

or provision into account as a reason for granting planning permission. These
restrictions do not apply to funding or provision of non-infrastructure items (such as
affordable housing) or to requirements for developers to enter into agreements under
section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 dealing with highway works. The
recommendations and detailed considerations underpinning them in this report have
taken these restrictions into account. The City Council introduced its own Community
Infrastructure Levy on 1 May 2016.
For reasons outlined elsewhere in this report, a S106 legal agreement will be required to
secure the setting up of a committee to manage the community space and guarantee its
long-term running costs on behalf of local groups/residents at nil cost, and £500 to cover
the cost of monitoring this clause. These are in accordance with the City Council’s
adopted City Plan and London Plan policies and they do not conflict with the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).
The proposals are not subject to a CIL payment.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: PAUL QUAYLE BY EMAIL AT pquayle@westminster.gov.uk

Page 34

Item No.
1

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Proposed ground floor

Proposed basement

Page 35

Item No.
1

Proposed gallery plan

Proposed attic plan [including roof terrace]

Page 36

Item No.
1

Proposed front elevation [with non-illuminated signage]

Gallery balustrade details

Page 37

Item No.
1

DRAFT DECISION LETTER (PLANNING PERMISSION)
Address:

St Mark's Church , North Audley Street, London, W1K 6DP

Proposal:

Use of the property for mixed use ('sui generis') purposes, comprising a mix of retail,
and food market with retail and food and drink facilities and use of part of the
basement as community space, with associated internal and external alterations
throughout, including installation of balustrades at first floor level, internal lift, plant,
ducting, pizza oven, and external light fittings for the front facade. (Linked to
18/10223/LBC)

Reference:

18/10222/FULL

Plan Nos:

GSA_MER003_PR100 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR101 Rev A, MER003_PR_A102
Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR103, GSA_MER003_PR104, GSA_MER003_PR101-1, ,
GSA_MER003_PR300 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR303, GSA_MER003_PR304,
GSA_MER003_PR305, GSA_MER003_PR306, MER003 - PR306-1, ,
GSA_MER003_PR400, GSA_MER003_PR401 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR403,
GSA_MER003_PR402, GSA_MER003_PR404, GSA_MER003_PR405,
GSA_MER003_PR406, GSA_MER003_PR409, GSA_MER003_PR411 Rev A,
MER003_PR408, GSA_MER003_PR411 Rev A;, Design and Access Statement
dated November 2018; , 'Waste and Recycling Policy at Mercato Mayfair' document
submitted by email from Gerald Eve on 1 February 2019; Reco-Air 'Installation,
Operating and Maintenance Instruction Manuel' for Unit Type RA 0.5 and RA 0.8.

Case Officer:

Paul Quayle

Direct Tel. No.

020 7641 2547

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

You must carry out any building work which can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
* between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;,
* between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and,
* not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours. (C11AA)
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in S29 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and STRA 25, TRANS 23, ENV 5 and ENV 6 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R11AC),

Page 38

Item No.
1

3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of the
choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies unless
differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by conditions to this
permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building and to make sure the
development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair Conservation Area.
This is as set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1, DES
10 (A) and paras 10.108 to 10.146 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007. (R26FD)

4

You must not attach flues, ducts, soil stacks, soil vent pipes, or any other pipework other than
rainwater pipes to the outside of the building unless they are shown on the approved drawings.
(C26KA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building and to make sure the
development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair Conservation Area.
This is as set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1, DES
10 (A) and paras 10.108 to 10.146 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007. (R26FD)

5

Customers shall not be permitted within the premises before 08.00 hours or after 23.00 hours
on Sundays to Thursdays (including all bank holidays and public holidays), and not before
08.00 hours or after 00.00 hours (midnight) on Fridays and Saturdays. You must not open the
premises to customers and you must not allow customers on the premises outside of these
hours.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S24, S29 and S32
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and TACE 10 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R12AC)

6

You must not allow more than 500 customers into the premises at any one time (including
customers using the external roof terrace), with a maximum number of 320 covers/seats.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S24, S29 and S32
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and TACE 10 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R12AC)

7

The external roof terrace (at the front part of the property next to the tower) shall only be open
to customers during the following times: 09.00 - 23.00 hours on Mondays to Saturdays and
09.00 - 22.00 hours on Sundays.

Page 39

Item No.
1

Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S24, S29 and S32
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and TACE 10 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R12AC)

8

You must apply to us for approval of an updated operational management plan/statement, that
includes details of how you will prevent customers who are leaving the premises from causing
nuisance for people who live in nearby buildings, especially at night time, a strategy for
customers wishing to smoke and security arrangements. This must address the basement
community use as well as the main retail and food market hall uses. You must not start the
approved uses until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the
measures included in the management plan/statement at all times that the building is in use. In
the event that alternative users subsequently occupy the premises, a new operational
management plan must be submitted, and approved by the Council, prior to their occupation of
the building.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S24, S29 and S32
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and TACE 10 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R12AC)

9

The full height kitchen extract duct and associated plant equipment and duct work that was
approved on 15 November 2016 (reference 15/10458/FULL) and which has been installed must
be retained for as long as there is gas and solid fuel cooking on the premises, including the
pizza oven.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S29 and S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and DES 5 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R14AC)

10

You must not provide a food delivery service from the premises, including no deliveries by any
independent/third party delivery operators.
Reason:
To avoid blocking the surrounding streets and to protect the environment of people in
neighbouring properties as set out in S42 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and
STRA 25, TRANS 20 and TRANS 21 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007. (R23AC)

11

You must carry out the installation, operation and maintenance of the recirculation ventilation
equipment for the cooking stations/kiosks in accordance with the Reco-Air 'Installation,
Operating and Maintenance Instruction Manual' for Unit Types RA 0.5 and RA 0.8.

Page 40

Item No.
1

Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S29 and S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and DES 5 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R14AC)

12

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or will not
be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including
non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved by the City Council. The background level
should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of
operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be
representative of the plant operating at its maximum., , (2) Where noise emitted from the
proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound
pressure level from the plant and machinery (including non-emergency auxiliary plant and
generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time exceed a
value of 15 dB below the minimum external background noise, at a point 1 metre outside any
window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless and until a fixed maximum
noise level is approved by the City Council. The background level should be expressed in terms
of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of operation. The plant-specific noise
level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be representative of the plant operating at its
maximum., , (3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to
the City Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by
submitting a further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent measurement data
of the installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for approval by the City Council.
Your submission of a noise report must include:, (a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that
formed part of this application;, (b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated:
ducting; attenuation and damping equipment;, (c) Manufacturer specifications of sound
emissions in octave or third octave detail;, (d) The location of most affected noise sensitive
receptor location and the most affected window of it;, (e) Distances between plant & equipment
and receptor location/s and any mitigating features that may attenuate the sound level received
at the most affected receptor location;, (f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels
recorded one metre outside and in front of the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable
representative position), at times when background noise is at its lowest during hours when the
plant and equipment will operate. This acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS
7445 in respect of measurement methodology and procedures;, (g) The lowest existing L A90,
15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;, (h) Measurement evidence and any
calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment complies with the planning condition;, (i)
The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the plant and equipment.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in ENV 6 (1), (6) and (8) and ENV 7 (A)(1) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007, so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive properties is protected,
including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds; and as set out in S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise
levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise

Page 41

Item No.
1

level to be approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AB)

13

All of the plant/machinery hereby permitted shall not be operated except between 07.30 hours
or after 23.30 hours on Sundays to Thursdays (including all bank holidays and public
holidays), and between 07.30 hours or after 00.30 hours of the following morning on Fridays
and Saturdays, except where plant is specifically required for refrigeration purposes.
Reason:
To safeguard the amenity of occupiers of noise sensitive properties and the area generally by
ensuring that the plant/machinery hereby permitted is not operated at hours when external
background noise levels are quietest thereby preventing noise and vibration nuisance as set out
in S32 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6 and ENV 7 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R46CB)

14

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through the
building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of greater
than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.26 m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as defined by BS
6472 (2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property.
Reason:
As set out in ENV6 (2) and (6) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007, to ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration. (R48AA)

15

There will be no live nor recorded music played or transmitted to the external roof terrace at the
front part of the property next to the tower.
Reason:
To protect the environment of people in neighbouring properties as set out in S24, S29 and S32
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6, ENV 7 and TACE 10 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R12AC)

16

You must apply to us for approval of details of a supplementary acoustic report demonstrating
that all the plant will comply with the Council's noise criteria as set out in Condition 12 of this
permission, including details of any additional acoustic mitigation measures that are required.
You must not commence any of the uses hereby approved until we have approved what you
have sent us.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in ENV 6 (1), (6) and (8) and ENV 7 (A)(1) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007, so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive properties is protected,
including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds; and as set out in S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise
levels. (R51AB)

Page 42

Item No.
1

17

Apart from the external terrace at attic level adjacent to the tower at the front of the property, no
parts of the roof of the building nor the external courtyards at basement level on the north and
south sides of the building shall be used for sitting out or for any other purpose, by staff or
customers. You can however use these areas to escape in an emergency.
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties. This is as set out
in S29 and S32 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 6 and ENV 13 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R21BC)

18

The areas annotated as "A1 - 305 sqm" on 'Ground Floor Plan, GIA Calculation /', Drawing No.
GSA_MER003_PR101-1, shall only be used for the retail sale of goods (which may include
groceries and other cold food stuffs, and Click and Collect) and shall not be used for the sale of
any hot foods nor hot drinks.
Reason:
To make sure that you carry out the development according to the terms of the planning
permission and any details we have approved. (R02AA)

19

You must submit an updated servicing management plan to us for approval prior to any of the
uses commencing. This plan must identify the delivery process, storage locations, scheduling of
deliveries and staffing, etc. In particular it must include details of the proposed consolidation hub
and how this will be used to consolidate servicing of the site . The uses must then be carried out
in accordance with the approved plan.
Reason:
To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring properties, as set out in S29
of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 13 of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R21AC)

20

You must provide each cycle parking space shown on the approved drawings prior to
occupation. Thereafter the cycle spaces must be retained and the space used for no other
purpose without the prior written consent of the local planning authority.
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development as set out in Policy 6.9
(Table 6.3) of the London Plan 2016 (R22FA)

21

No goods shall be left on the highway during service deliveries.
Reason:
In the interests of public safety and to avoid blocking the road as set out in S41 of Westminster's
City Plan (November 2016) and TRANS 2 and TRANS 3 of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R24AC)

Page 43

Item No.
1

22

All servicing (excluding the collection of rubbish and recycled material) must take place at the
front of the property, on the North Audley Street frontage, between 06.00 hours and 22.00 hours
on Mondays to Saturdays and between 08.00 hours and 21.00 hours on Sundays. Servicing
includes loading and unloading goods from vehicles.
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in S29 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and STRA 25, TRANS 23, ENV 5 and ENV 6 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R22CC)

23

The access at the rear of the site on Balderton Street may be used for the collection of rubbish
and recycled materials (but no other servicing), only between 08.00 hours and 21.00 hours on
Mondays to Saturdays and between 08.00 hours and 20.00 hours on Sundays. The Balderton
Street access shall not be used by customers to the premises except those visitors specifically
using the community use in the basement and in cases of emergency.
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in S29 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and STRA 25, TRANS 23, ENV 5 and ENV 6 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R22CC)

24

You must provide the waste stores, cardboard baler and glass crusher shown on drawing
GSA_MER003_PR100 Rev A before any of the users commence. You must clearly mark them
and make them available at all times to everyone using the building. You must store waste
inside the property and only put it outside just before it is going to be collected. You must not
use the waste store for any other purpose. Waste and recycling shall then be managed in
accordance with the 'Waste and Recycling Policy at Mercato Mayfair' document submitted by
email from Gerald Eve on 1 February 2019.
Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste and materials for recycling as
set out in S44 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 12 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R14CC)

25

You must provide the access arrangements for people with disabilities as outlined in Section 7
of the Design and Access Statement dated November 2018 before you use the building. The
removable access ramp must be permanently stored in the portico or narthex and a member of
staff must be available to provide assistance for customers wishing to use the ramp at all times
that the building is open to the public.
Reason:
To make sure that there is reasonable access for people with disabilities and to make sure that
the access does not harm the appearance of the building, as set out in S28 of Westminster's
City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 (B) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007. (R20AC)

Page 44

Item No.
1

26

No goods shall be displayed on the entrance steps on the North Audley Street frontage, which
shall be kept permanently clear except for the removable access ramp.
Reason:
In the interests of public safety and to avoid blocking the pavement, as set out in S41 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and TRANS 2 and TRANS 3 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007.

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016), Unitary Development Plan, neighbourhood plan (where relevant),
supplementary planning documents, planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well
as offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

2

This permission is governed by a legal agreement between the applicant and us under Section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The agreement relates to:, i) setting up of a
committee to manage the community space and guarantee its long-term running costs on behalf
of local groups/residents at nil cost; , ii) Monitoring costs of £500 for the above clause.

3

It is a legal requirement to ensure that every enclosed workplace is ventilated by a sufficient
quantity of fresh or purified air. Where this ventilation is provided by mechanical means the
regulations require those mechanical ventilation systems to be maintained (including
appropriate cleaning) in efficient working order. , B&ES Guide to Good Practice - TR19 Internal
Cleanliness of Ventilation systems is a guidance document which can be used for new build,
upgrade and maintenance of ventilation systems. Particular attention should be given to; ,
Section 2 - New ductwork system cleanliness , Section 3 - Design and access to the internal
surfaces of the ventilation system , Section 7 - Specific considerations for kitchen extract
systems. (This section deals specifically with access to the internal surfaces to the kitchen
extract system, cleaning methods and frequency of cleaning). , Where access hatches or panels
are required in order to meet the above requirements, these must be incorporated into the
design of the ducting and any associated screening or cladding.

Page 45

Item No.
1

DRAFT DECISION LETTER (LISTED BUILDING CONSENT)
Address:

St Mark's Church , North Audley Street, London, W1K 6DP

Proposal:

Internal and external alterations throughout, including installation of balustrades at
first floor level, internal lift, plant, ducting, pizza oven, and pin mounted metal
lettering to the portico entablature.

Reference:

18/10223/LBC

Plan Nos:

GSA_MER003_PR100 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR101 Rev A, MER003_PR_A102
Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR103, GSA_MER003_PR104, GSA_MER003_PR101-1, ,
GSA_MER003_PR300 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR303, GSA_MER003_PR304,
GSA_MER003_PR305, GSA_MER003_PR306, MER003 - PR306-1, ,
GSA_MER003_PR400, GSA_MER003_PR401 Rev A, GSA_MER003_PR403,
GSA_MER003_PR402, GSA_MER003_PR404, GSA_MER003_PR405,
GSA_MER003_PR406, GSA_MER003_PR409, GSA_MER003_PR411 Rev A,
MER003_PR408, GSA_MER003_PR411 Rev A;, Design and Access Statement
dated November 2018; , 'Waste and Recycling Policy at Mercato Mayfair' document
submitted by email from Gerald Eve on 1 February 2019; Reco-Air 'Installation,
Operating and Maintenance Instruction Manuel' for Unit Type RA 0.5 and RA 0.8.

Case Officer:

Paul Quayle

Direct Tel. No.

020 7641 2547

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

All new work and improvements inside and outside the building must match existing original
adjacent work in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and finished
appearance. This applies unless differences are shown on the approved drawings or are
required in conditions to this permission. (C27AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure the
development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair Conservation Area.
This is as set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 and
paras 10.108 to 10.146 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007.
(R27AC)

Page 46

Item No.
1

3

The new joinery work must exactly match the existing original work unless differences are
shown on the drawings we have approved. (C27EA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007, and paragraph 2.3/2.4 of our
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BC)

4

The works approved are only those shown on the drawings listed on this decision letter.
(C27NA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure the
development contributes to the character and appearance of the Mayfair Conservation Area.
This is as set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 and
paras 10.108 to 10.146 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007.
(R27AC)

5

You must not disturb any existing ornamental features including stained glass, plasterwork,
architraves, panelling, doors and staircase balustrades. You must leave them in their present
position unless changes are shown on the approved drawings or are required by conditions to
this permission. You must protect those features properly during work on site. (C27KA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007, and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BD)

6

Prior to commencing the use hereby approved you must apply to the City Council, in
consultation with Historic England, for approval of a condition survey of all the stained/coloured
glass windows and the building fabric which will adjoin the food stations/kiosks (cooking and
non-cooking), carried out by a suitably qualified expert. Then, annually thereafter on or before
1st June each year, for so long as the use involving food preparation and/or cooking continues,
you must carry out a condition survey of the stained/coloured glass windows, and the building
fabric adjoining the food stations/kiosks (cooking and non-cooking), which is to be undertaken
by a suitably qualified expert and submit it to the City Council for approval, in consultation with
Historic England, along with details of any cleaning, repairs, or mitigation methods to rectify any
deterioration or damage caused by the use. The cleaning, repairs, or mitigation methods shall
be then be carried out in accordance with the approved details within three months of the details
being approved.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 of our Unitary

Page 47

Item No.
1

Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007, and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BD)

7

No cleaning of any stained/coloured glass other than gentle surface dusting is authorised by this
consent. Before any future cleaning work is carried out, you must apply to the City Council, in
consultation with Historic England, for approval of the cleaning technique(s) and method
statement(s) which must be prepared by a suitably qualified expert. The cleaning must then only
be carried out in accordance with the technique(s) and method statement(s) we have approved.
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this listed building. This is as set out in
S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 of our Unitary
Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007, and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary
Planning Guidance: Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings. (R27BD)

Informative(s):

1

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING CONDITIONAL LISTED BUILDING CONSENT In reaching the decision to grant listed building consent with conditions, the City Council has
had regard to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan
2016, Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), and the City of Westminster Unitary
Development Plan adopted January 2007, as well as relevant supplementary planning
guidance, representations received and all other material considerations., , The City Council
decided that the proposed works would not harm the special architectural and historic interest of
this listed building., , In reaching this decision the following were of particular relevance:, S25
and S28 of Westminster's City Plan and DES 10 including paras 10.130 to 10.146 of the Unitary
Development Plan, and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary Planning Guidance: Repairs and
Alterations to Listed Buildings.

2

You will need to contact us again if you want to carry out work on the listed building which is not
referred to in your plans. This includes:, , * any extra work which is necessary after further
assessments of the building's condition;, * stripping out or structural investigations; and, * any
work needed to meet the building regulations or other forms of statutory control., , Please quote
any 'TP' and 'RN' reference numbers shown on this consent when you send us further
documents., , It is a criminal offence to carry out work on a listed building without our consent.
Please remind your client, consultants, contractors and subcontractors of the terms and
conditions of this consent. (I59AA)

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons &
Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the meeting is
in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 48

Agenda Item 2
Item No.
2

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

19 February 2019

For General Release

Report of

Ward(s) involved

Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing

Regent's Park

Subject of Report

Strathmore Court , 143 Park Road, London, NW8 7HY

Proposal

Erection of three storey rear extension at fourth, fifth and sixth floor
levels. Alterations to rear elevation and installation of terraces. Infill of
lightwell at ground floor level. Alterations to roof dormers to provide
access to terraces. Installation of rooftop plant equipment. Alterations
and addition of windows and doors. All in association with the
reconfiguration of existing flats and creation of nine additional dwellings
(Class C3).

Agent

Nick Sharpe

On behalf of

c/o agent

Registered Number

18/10340/FULL

Date Application
Received

6 December 2018

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Outside

1.

Date amended/
completed

6 December 2018

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission, including a condition to secure car club membership.

2.

SUMMARY

This application relates to a mansion block with retail units at ground floor level and residential
accommodation over the upper six levels. The building is located on the corner of Park Road and
Lodge Road and is not a listed building or located within a conservation area.
Planning permission is sought for the erection of an extension to the rear of the building between
fourth to sixth floor levels to provide 9 additional residential units in combination with the
reconfiguration of the residential accommodation in the existing building.
The key issues for consideration are:
 The acceptability of the proposals in land use terms.
 The impact on the appearance of the building and this part of the City.

Page 49

Item No.
2




The impact of the development proposals on the amenity of adjacent occupiers.
The impact of the proposals in highways and parking terms.

Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposals are considered to comply with the City
Council's policies in relation to land use, design, amenity and highways as set out in Westminster's
City Plan (the City Plan) and the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and the application is accordingly
recommended for approval.

Page 50

Item No.
2

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 51

Item No.
2

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

View from the corner of Park Road and Lodge Road (top) and view of rear from Lodge Road
(bottom).

Page 52

Item No.
2

5.

CONSULTATIONS
TRANSPORT FOR LONDON
Raise objection on the following grounds:
- Car free development acceptable, however request for blue badge facility within 50m of
entrance.
- Do not consider that car club membership for residents to be required as residents
should be encouraged to travel sustainably.
- A residential travel plan is required, which should be secured by legal agreement.
- Cycle parking within the flats is not in accordance with TfL guidance. Cycle store should
be provided at ground or basement level.
- A delivery service plan should be secured by condition.
- A Construction Logistics Plan needs to be secured by condition.
ST JOHNS WOOD SOCIETY
No objections subject to the comments of Strathmore Court Residents' Association and
neighbouring residents. However, concerns are raised about the construction management
of this significant development which will have a direct impact on Park Road, a major
arterial road, as well as Lodge Road and St John's Wood which already have a significant
number developments under consideration, approved or currently under construction.
ROYAL PARKS
Any response to be reported verbally.
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES
No objection. Conditions recommended in relation to plant and machinery.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER
No objection subject to condition to secure cycle parking, waste stores and to ensure no
doors open over the highway.
WASTE PROJECTS OFFICER
Originally raised objection due to inappropriate waste and recyclable storage provisions.
Further information required in accordance with guidance. Following the receipt of revised
information, no objection raised, subject to condition to secure waste store.
ADJOINING OWNERS/ OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS
No. of Consultations: 113; No. of Responses: 1 response raising the objection on the
following grounds:
Amenity:
 BRE guidance also notes that some offices should have a reasonable expectation of
daylight.
 The proposed development will have a significant impact on the daylight and sunlight of
the adjacent office space.
 Impacts to rights of light.
Other Matters:
 The principle of redevelopment of the adjacent site at 151-153 Park Road has been
established under elapsed planning applications 06/10129/FULL & 10/01392/FULL.

Page 53

Item No.
2






The proposals would prejudice against the development of adjacent site.
There has been no pre-application consultation with neighbours or statement of
community involvement submitted with the application.
Due to increasing scale of planning applications, applicant is undertaking planning
‘creep’.
Concerns in relation to the servicing and refuse storage to the rear.

SITE/ PRESS NOTICE
Yes.
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
This application relates to a residential mansion block with retail units at ground floor level,
on the corner of Park Road and Lodge Road. The existing building comprises 21 residential
units. The building is currently split so that the main Park Road facing frontage has ground
and six upper levels, and then the rear part with a side frontage onto Lodge Road has
ground and three upper levels. The building is not listed nor is it within a conservation area.
To the north of the site is a car dealership with offices above (Nos.151 to 153 Park Road),
to the east is Regents Park, to the south on the opposite side of Lodge Road is a residential
block (Beverly House) and to the west of the site is the Danubius Hotel. There is a relatively
large portion of land to the street frontages of Strathmore Court, which is in the applicant’s
ownership. This is a private forecourt and does not form part of the public highway.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
Permission has been granted in 2016 and 2017 for planning permission for many of the
same alterations as are currently proposed, however without such a large rear extension,
namely:
16/06217/FULL
Alterations to front entrance; construction of an extension at ground floor level to an internal
lightwell; plant enclosures and installation of plant at ground, fourth and roof level, creation
of a terrace to the rear at fourth floor level with the addition of planters, balustrades and
screens; creation of balconies to rear elevation at first, second, third and sixth floor levels;
alterations to existing bay windows and creation of balconies at mansard roof level and
installation of rooflights. Reconfiguration of existing flats and mix of flats and creation of two
additional flats.
Application Permitted
7 October 2016
17/05224/FULL
Alterations to front entrance; construction of an extension at ground floor level to an internal
lightwell; plant enclosures and installation of plant at ground, fourth and roof level, creation
of a terrace to the rear at fourth floor level with the addition of planters, balustrades and
screens; creation of balconies to rear elevation at first, second, third and sixth floor levels;
alterations to existing bay windows and creation of balconies at mansard roof level and

Page 54

Item No.
2

installation of rooflights. Reconfiguration of existing flats and mix of flats and creation of four
additional flats.
Application Permitted
7 August 2017
7.

THE PROPOSAL
Permission is sought for alterations to the existing mansion block to erect a three storey
roof extension to the rear part of the building at fourth, fifth and sixth floor levels. At sixth
floor level the extension would comprise a mansard style roof extension designed to match
the front part of the building. To the rear, facing towards the adjacent hotel, it is proposed to
pull the building line of the southern wing of the building back and form balconies for each
of the flats at each floor level. There are two existing lightwells which run centrally up the
building, which are to have the existing escape staircases removed and balconies formed at
each level instead. The northern lightwell is also to be infilled at ground floor level. At sixth
floor level it is proposed to alter the existing windows to provide access out onto two small
new terraces set within the roof form facing towards Park Road.
The alterations are proposed in association with the reconfiguration of the existing flats
within the building and creation of nine additional dwellings (Class C3). The proposals result
in the creation of 661m2 (GIA) of additional residential floorspace.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
No changes are proposed to the existing retail accommodation at ground/basement level.
The existing building is used as 21 flats comprising 1x studio, 1x2 bed unit, 4x2 bed units,
6x4 bed units and 9x5 bed units (a total of 15 family sized units). The proposals are for 30
units comprising 1x1 bed unit, 20x2 bed unit and 9x3 bed units. UDP Policy H5 and S15 of
the City Plan seek the provision of a range of housing sizes. City Plan Policy S14 seeks to
optimise housing delivery across the City. Policy H5 specifically requires a third of dwellings
to be of a family size. While the proposals will reduce the overall number of family sized
units, and while just under a third of the new units will be of a family size (30%), the site is
not within a priority family housing area (as identified within the UDP) and the proposed mix
will help to optimise housing delivery on the site in accordance with Policy S14. Accordingly
the mix of units proposed is considered to be acceptable.
All of the proposed flats meet the requirements of the Nationally Described Housing Space
Standards (March 2015). A daylight and sunlight report has been submitted in relation to
the re-organised and new residential accommodation. This indicates that rooms which face
into the lightwells experience low levels of light as would be expected due to the high level
of enclosure. However, the worst affected rooms, at lower levels within the lightwells are
currently in residential use and already have poor access to light. The applicant has made
efforts to reduce the number of habitable rooms which look onto the lightwell and has
sought to arrange the proposed flats so that rooms with lightwell windows have secondary
windows in other external elevations where possible.

Page 55

Item No.
2

The proposals include the removal of the stairs within the lightwells, which will help to allow
light to penetrate down to the lower levels. A condition is recommended for the walls within
the lightwells to be painted and maintained white in order to help improve reflected light
levels. In conclusion, while the low levels of light to some rooms is regrettable, given that
this is an existing situation, it is not considered that refusal on the grounds of substandard
accommodation could be sustained.
There are existing windows located in the north west facing elevation of the building and rhe
scheme proposes the introduction of a number of additional windows in this elevation,
which is an aspect of the scheme which has attracted objection as they would overlook the
adjacent site at Nos.151-153 Park Road. Given the location of the windows on the
boundary of the site, they are considered to be ‘bad neighbour’ windows, which could only
be afforded limited protection from future development on the neighbouring site. The
proposed plans indicate that each of the windows would be opaque glazed and that all the
rooms that these windows would serve would also have another window which is not
located on the boundary (i.e. either located in the rear lightwell or the rear, south west,
elevation). A condition is recommended to ensure these windows are opaque glazed and
fixed shut and an informative is recommended to advise the applicant that these windows
would be afforded limited protection should an application be proposed which would have
an adverse impact on these windows in terms of increased enclosure or loss of daylight.
Given the above considerations, the proposals are considered acceptable in land use
terms.
8.2

Townscape and Design
To Park Road, the building has an attractive composition with stone faced ground floor and
also a stone faced central element which rises up to parapet height and is flanked to the
upper floors by the exposed brickwork and canted bay features. A mansard caps the
composition at sixth floor level. To Lodge Road however, and especially to the west facing
rear elevation which faces down Lodge Road the building is a significantly unresolved
composition, and with the rear elevation being of poor design quality and comprising a
series of largely unrelated design features. It is unclear why the building is designed in this
manner; however, it gives the building a notably unattractive and unfinished appearance
when these elevations are considered.
It is recognised that the extensions will add a considerable additional mass and bulk to the
rear of the building. It is of note however that it is located adjacent to the very large scale of
the Danubius hotel building, with the large residential block of Beverly House to the south
on the opposite side of Lodge Road, and a further series of large residential blocks
previously approved and under construction further to the west along Lodge Road. In this
context, and mindful of the location outside a conservation area, it is considered that the
additional massing proposed for the application site is acceptable, both in terms of its
townscape context, and also as it gives the opportunity to allow considerable architectural
improvements to the existing unattractive and unresolved south western (rear) half of the
building.
The new Lodge Road elevation is considered to attractively adapt the existing composition,
and it would be of appropriate design quality. To denote the secondary nature of the Lodge
Road frontage it is proposed to maintain the termination of the canted bays to the Lodge

Page 56

Item No.
2

Road elevation at third floor level, as existing, and not extend them up to fifth floor level as
per the rest of the street elevations. To the south west facing rear elevation, the new
elevation is a well composed arrangement of brick bays incorporating balconies to the lower
levels which flank a rendered central bay, and the overall effect is considered attractive and
a considerable improvement on the existing south west facing elevation. The less visible
north west facing elevation is relatively restrained, though contains a regular series of
windows. The north west elevation, which is visible in a limited range of views from the
public highway in Park Road to the north, is not particularly attractive due to the relative
blankness of the detailing; however, given that it comprises the party wall with the adjoining
property, the approach proposed is considered acceptable in this instance.
Though much of the Park Road elevation of the building is notably attractive, the existing
dormers at roof level are quite crude in detail and have large panes of glass out of keeping
with the more heavily subdivided windows to the elevation below. These dormers are to be
removed, and replaced with more recessive dormers which incorporate a subdivision of
glazing more in keeping with the windows below, which is considered a welcome change to
the building and will improve the skyline appearance of the mansard floor level. The
balustrading in front will not unduly clutter the impression of the dormers, subject to
conditions to secure full detailing of this. The dormers do differ around the other elevations
responding to context of the building below; however, they are considered acceptable and
their design responds to the subtly different design of each facade.
The increase in plant equipment to roof level is well set back from each of the elevations,
and would not be anticipated to be unduly prominent to roof level.
A new set of steps incorporating a ramp are proposed to the front entrance, details of which
are to be secured by condition, including a sample of the stone for the paving, and the
existing unattractive canopy is to be removed. These match details previously approved,
and are considered acceptable as part of this current application.
With the substantive element of the proposed development located to the western side of
the building, the works are not considered to adversely affect the setting of the Regent's
Park or St John's Wood Conservation Areas, nor the setting of any surrounding listed
buildings (the nearest of which is St John's Church to the north side of Prince Albert Road).
Given the above, the proposals are considered in accordance with Policies DES 1, DES 5,
DES 6, DES 9, DES 10, DES 12 and DES 15 in the UDP and Policies S25 or S28 in the
City Plan. Given of the above comments on the setting of the surrounding conservation
areas, the recommendation is not considered in conflict with the statutory duties set out in
s66 or s72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, mindful that
considerable weight and importance must be given to those duties.
8.3

Residential Amenity
Policies ENV 13 of the UDP and S29 of the City Plan relate to amenity and seek to ensure
that development proposals do not result in a material loss of daylight or sunlight or
increase in sense of enclosure or overlooking, particularly to residential, educational and
buildings in public use. The most affected properties are those located to the north, west
and south, which will be discussed in turn.

Page 57

Item No.
2

151-153 Park Road:
An objection has been raised on behalf of the owners of the adjacent hotel on the grounds
that the development would have a negative impact on the light to the adjacent offices at
Nos.151-153. They point out that the Building Research Establishment (BRE) guidelines
also states that in addition to housing, “the guidelines may also be applied to any existing
non-domestic building where the occupants have a reasonable expectation of daylight; this
would normally include school, hospitals, hotels and hostels, small workshops and some
offices.”
UDP Policy ENV13 (E) states that the City Council will normally resist proposals which
result in a material loss of daylight or sunlight, particularly to existing dwellings and
educational buildings. ENV13 (F) states that developments should not result in a significant
increase in the sense of enclosure or overlooking, or cause unacceptable overshadowing
particularly on gardens, public open space or adjoining buildings, whether in residential or
public use.
While the policies do not specifically refer to office accommodation, the Policy Application
text in the UDP notes that the City Council will seek to protect and improve amenities for
residents, workers and visitors. It notes that while the policies are primarily designed with
regard to residential accommodation, the City Council may apply them to other uses, such
as schools and other activities where loss of daylight or sunlight may prejudice the present
use of the premises.
It is understood that the adjacent building to the north east is used as offices, albeit at the
time of the officers site visit, much of this appeared to be vacant. The ground floor street
facing part of the building in use as a car showroom. The windows which face towards the
rear (in various elevations) will be affected as a result of the additional bulk proposed to the
rear part of the application site. These windows currently look onto the flank wall of the
application site; however, the proposed additional bulk will be located at a higher level and
will therefore have an impact in terms of loss of light and increased sense of enclosure.
Notwithstanding this, the windows will maintain a level of separation due to the layout of the
affected building, which has lower sections adjacent to the site, with the highest part of the
building, being set away on the north eastern part of the site. The majority of the windows
face the application site are at an oblique angle and already have a limited outlook due to
the existing mass of Strathmore Court. While both the Council’s policies and the BRE
guidance do note that consideration should be had for uses other than residential, it is
considered that offices can only be given limited protection. In this case the likely impact of
the development would not be so severe as to justify refusal on the basis of the impact on
the office windows at No.151-153 Park Road.
The plans indicate that the new windows which face towards this neighbour are to be
opaque glazed. Due to their location along the boundary, where their outlook/amenity can
be afforded limited protection, as referenced in Section 8.2, it is recommended that these
windows are conditioned so that they are both obscure and fixed shut.
Danubius Hotel, 18 Lodge Road:
The proposals include additional balconies on the elevation which looks towards the hotel
and the additional bulk is located on this side of the site. Due to the hotels location, set
across an area of hard landscaping/ parking, it is not considered that the proposals will
have a significant impact on the hotel in amenity terms.

Page 58

Item No.
2

Beverly House, 133-135 Park Road:
This residential block is a located on the opposite side of Lodge Road from the application
site and is the nearest affected residential building. A daylight and sunlight report has been
submitted in support of the application, and it tests the impact of the development on the
existing adjacent residential windows. It indicates that 4 windows will not retain an amount
of Vertical Sky Component (VSC) which is in excess of 0.8 times its former value and will
therefore be noticeable. The existing VSC levels to these windows are low, due to existing
overhanging balconies. The report indicates that each of the rooms have adequate daylight
distribution and are served by other windows, which meet the BRE criteria. Given the
impacted windows are located under balconies and have impacted rooms have other
windows, the impact is considered acceptable.
In terms of sense of enclosure and privacy, given the location of the site on the opposite
side of the road, and the number and location of existing windows in the south east
elevation of Strathmore Court, it’s not considered the development will have a significant
impact and is therefore acceptable.
8.4

Transportation/Parking
Car Parking:
The existing site has no off-street parking. No parking is proposed for the 9 additional units.
The Highways Planning Manager has noted that existing on-street parking levels are below
the level of ‘Serious Deficiency’ and therefore any additional parking can be absorbed into
the surrounding street network. As such, the scheme is compliant with Policy TRANS 23 in
the UDP. The applicant is proposing car club membership for future residents, which is
welcomed and is to be secured via a pre-commencement condition requiring the applicant
to enter into appropriate arrangements to deliver the car club memberships for each new
flat.
Transport for London (TfL) considers that the development should be secured as a car free
development. The City Council currently has no adopted or saved policies which promote
car free developments. Rather, they seek to provide parking for residential development
proposals. Such a requirement is therefore not considered to accord with the Council’s
adopted policies. TfL also suggest that a blue badge parking facility should be secured by
legal agreement in accordance with London Plan policy 6.13. This policy states that
disabled parking should be provided in accordance with Table 6.2, which states that
“…adequate parking spaces for disabled people must be provided preferably on-site”. As no
on-site parking is being provided and given that any occupiers would be able to apply for
disabled parking in the normal way, it is not considered that such a requirement could be
required in this instance.
Cycle Parking:
The applicant is proposing cycle parking within each of the flats. The Highways Planning
Manager has not objected, subject to a condition to secure this. TfL has however objected
stating that the provision of cycle parking within the flats is contrary to the latest London
Cycle Design Standards, which require cycle parking to be:
(a) Secure, with access for residents only, and with stands/racks allowing both the frame
and at least one wheel to be secured

Page 59

Item No.
2

(b) Well located: close to the entrance of the property and avoiding obstacles such as stairs,
multiple doors, narrow doorways (less than 1.2 metres wide) and tight corners.
Cycle parking within the flats has previously been agreed as part of the two recent
permissions. The applicant has also proposed additional cycle parking within the basement,
which in combination with the parking within the flats, is considered acceptable.
Other:
TfL has requested a Travel Plan to be secured by S106 to promote sustainable travel
behaviour. Given the development proposals for an extension to an existing residential
building, it is not considered that such a request is justified or required by adopted policy.
A Delivery Servicing Plan has been requested by TfL by condition. As the proposals are for
extension of an existing residential building to provide less than 10 new residential units, it
is not considered that such a condition can be justified.
TfL have also requested a pre-commencement Construction Logistic Plan in accordance
with their guidance. Given the location of the site on the Transport for London Road
Network (where TfL are the Highway Authority), such a condition is considered reasonable.
The applicant has accepted this pre-commencement condition.
8.5

Economic Considerations
Any economic benefits resulting from the proposed development are welcomed.

8.6

Access
Access to the building is to remain as existing, with the main entrance to the building from
Park Road.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations

8.7.1

Mechanical Plant
Plant equipment is proposed on the roof within a new enclosure. The applicant has
submitted a noise survey as part of the application. The air conditioning units are proposed
to operate over a 24 hour period due to them serving a residential building. The report
states that the proposed plant equipment will meet City Council requirements, subject to it
being located within an acoustic enclosure. Environmental Science Officers raise no
objections to the proposal, subject to standard City Council noise conditions being imposed.
A condition is also recommended to ensure that the plant is not operated prior to the
installation of the acoustic enclosure. Subject to these conditions it is considered the units
will not result in a loss of residential amenity and the mechanical plant would accord with
Policies ENV6 and ENV7 in the UDP and S32 in the City Plan.

8.7.2

Waste and Recycling Storage
During the course of the application, revised details in relation to the proposed basement
waste and recyclable storage have been provided following comments from the Waste
Projects Officer. The revised details, with waste collected from Lodge Road are considered

Page 60

Item No.
2

acceptable and in accordance with Policy ENV12 in the UDP, and are to be secured by
condition.
8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Council is currently working on a complete review of its City Plan. Informal
consultation on the first draft of Westminster’s City Plan 2019-2040 started on Monday
12 November 2018 and will close on Friday 21 December 2018. Following this informal
consultation, any representations received will be considered and the draft plan will be
revised in advance of formal consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Given the very early stage of
the consultation process and having regard to the tests set out in para. 48 of the NPPF, the
policies of the emerging draft City Plan are given little to no weight at the present time.

8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
This application is not located within an area with a Neighbourhood Plan.

8.10

London Plan
This application does not raise any strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan and UDP policies referred to in the consideration of this application are
considered to be consistent with the NPPF unless stated otherwise.
Further to the Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations
2018, the City Council cannot impose a pre-commencement condition (a condition which
must be discharged before works can start on site) on a planning permission without the
written agreement of the applicant, unless the applicant fails to provide a substantive
response within a 10 day period following notification of the proposed condition, the reason
for the condition and justification for the condition by the City Council.
During the course of this application a notice was served relating to the proposed imposition
of a pre-commencement condition to secure the applicant’s adherence to TfL’s requirement
for a Construction Logistics Plan. Confirmation from the applicant in relation to this condition
will be reported verbally.

8.12

Planning Obligations
A Grampian condition is recommended to secure car club membership for the flats, which
has been agreed by the applicant.
The estimated Westminster ‘Residential Prime’ CIL payment is £307,450. The estimated
Mayoral CIL payment is £27,950.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
This development is of insufficient scale to require an EIA.

Page 61

Item No.
2

8.14

Other Issues
An objection has been received on the grounds that the proposed development would
prejudice the future development of the adjacent site at 151-153 Park Road. Whilst
permission has previously been granted for redevelopment of this neighbouring site, this
permission has since lapsed without implementation and there is no extant permission for
the redevelopment of the site. In these circumstances and having regard to the position,
bulk and relationship of the proposed extension and alterations to Strathmore Court relative
to the neighbouring site at Nos.151-153, it is not considered that it would prejudice future
redevelopment of this neighbouring site. In this context, and as each application must be
assessed on its own merits, it is not considered that permission could reasonably be
withheld on these grounds.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background Papers
are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: OLIVER GIBSON BY EMAIL AT ogibson@westminster.gov.uk.

Page 62

Item No.
2

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Proposed Lodge Road elevation (existing building line dashed) (top) and proposed south west
(rear) elevation (existing building line dashed) (bottom).

Page 63

Item No.
2

Proposed north west elevation (existing building line dashed) (top) and typical proposed floorplan
(fifth floor shown) (bottom).

Page 64

Item No.
2

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Strathmore Court , 143 Park Road, London, NW8 7HY

Proposal:

Erection of three storey rear extension at fourth, fifth and sixth floor levels.
Alterations to rear elevation and installation of terraces. Infill of lightwell at ground
floor level. Alterations to roof dormers to provide access to terraces. Installation of
rooftop plant equipment. Alterations and addition of windows and doors. All in
association with the reconfiguration of existing flats and creation of nine additional
dwellings (Class C3).

Plan Nos:

P0-098 P1; P0-100 P1; P0-101 P1; P0-102 P1; P0-103 P1; P0-104 P1; P0-105 P1;
P0-106 P1; P0-107 P1; P0-108 P1; P0-200 P1; P0-201 P1; P0-202 P1; P0-203 P1;
P0-204 P1; P0-300 P1; P0-301 P1; P0-302 P1; P0-303 P1; P1-100 P3; P1-101 P3;
P1-102 P2; P1-103 P2; P1-104 P2; P1-105 P2; P1-106 P2; P1-107 P1; P1-108 P1;
P2-200 P1; P2-201 P1; P2-202 P1; P2-203 P1; P2-204 P1; P3-300 P1; P3-301 P1;
P3-302 P1; P3-303 P1; P4-400 P1; Planning Compliance Review by KP acoustics
dated 06/11/2018.
For information only: Design and Access Statement P1; Daylight & Sunlight Report
by Anstey Horne dated October 2018; Transport Statement by Caneparo Associates
dated November 2018; Planning Statement by Montagu Evans dated December
2018.

Case Officer:

Direct Tel. No.

Rupert Handley

020 7641 2497

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet
police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)

Page 65

Item No.
2

Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in S29 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and STRA 25, TRANS 23, ENV 5 and ENV 6 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R11AC)

3

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of the
choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies unless
differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by conditions to this
permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

4

You must put up the plant screen shown on the approved drawings before you use the
machinery. You must then maintain it in the form shown for as long as the machinery remains in
place. (C13DA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

5

The new areas of facing brickwork must match the existing original brickwork in terms of colour,
texture, face bond and pointing, and the new brickwork must be formed by complete bricks and
not brick slips.
(C27CA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

6

The new external metalwork shall be formed in black metal, and shall be maintained in that
colour thereafter.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

Page 66

Item No.
2

7

The new windows and external doors shall be formed in glazing and white painted timber
framing, and the new dormers shall be clad to sides, cheeks and roofs in lead.
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

8

You must apply to us for approval of a sample of the facing material to be used as paving for
the new front entrance steps/ramp structure. You must not start any work on these parts of the
development until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work
using the approved materials. (C26BC)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

9

You must apply to us for approval of an elevation drawing of the new balustrading to the Park
Road facing dormers to the top floor level. You must not start any work on these parts of the
development until we have approved what you have sent us. You must then carry out the work
according to this drawing. (C26DB)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of the area. This is as set out in S28 of Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6 or both of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R26AD)

10

(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will not contain tones or will not
be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including
non-emergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved by the City Council. The background level
should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of
operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be
representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(2) Where noise emitted from the proposed plant and machinery will contain tones or will be
intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the plant and machinery (including nonemergency auxiliary plant and generators) hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest,
shall not at any time exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum external background noise, at
a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless

Page 67

Item No.
2

and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved by the City Council. The background level
should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the proposed hours of
operation. The plant-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall be
representative of the plant operating at its maximum.
(3) Following installation of the plant and equipment, you may apply in writing to the City
Council for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting a
further noise report confirming previous details and subsequent measurement data of the
installed plant, including a proposed fixed noise level for approval by the City Council. Your
submission of a noise report must include:
(a) A schedule of all plant and equipment that formed part of this application;
(b) Locations of the plant and machinery and associated: ducting; attenuation and damping
equipment;
(c) Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave detail;
(d) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location and the most affected window
of it;
(e) Distances between plant & equipment and receptor location/s and any mitigating features
that may attenuate the sound level received at the most affected receptor location;
(f) Measurements of existing LA90, 15 mins levels recorded one metre outside and in front of
the window referred to in (d) above (or a suitable representative position), at times when
background noise is at its lowest during hours when the plant and equipment will operate. This
acoustic survey to be conducted in conformity to BS 7445 in respect of measurement
methodology and procedures;
(g) The lowest existing L A90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (f) above;
(h) Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that plant and equipment
complies with the planning condition;
(i) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the plant and equipment.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in ENV 6 (1), (6) and (8) and ENV 7 (A)(1) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007, so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive properties is
protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds; and as set out in S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise
levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise
level to be approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AB)
11

No vibration shall be transmitted to adjoining or other premises and structures through the
building structure and fabric of this development as to cause a vibration dose value of greater
than 0.4m/s (1.75) 16 hour day-time nor 0.26 m/s (1.75) 8 hour night-time as defined by BS
6472 (2008) in any part of a residential and other noise sensitive property.
Reason:
As set out in ENV6 (2) and (6) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007, to ensure that the development is designed to prevent structural transmission of noise or
vibration. (R48AA)

Page 68

Item No.
2

12

The air conditioning units must not operate until the mitigation measures specified in Part 5.3 of
the Planning Compliance Review dated 6 November 2018 by KP Acoustics have been installed
and shall be retained for as long as the air conditioning units remains in use.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels, and as set out
in ENV 6 (1), (6) and (8) and ENV 7 (A)(1) of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007, so that the noise environment of people in noise sensitive properties is
protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive sounds; and as set out in S32 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), by contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise
levels. Part (3) is included so that applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise
level to be approved in case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the
planning permission. (R46AB)

13

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Logistics Plan for the proposed development has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the City Council as local planning authority (in consultation with TfL). Development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason:
To prevent obstruction of the Transport for London Strategic Road Network and the local road
network as set out in S29 of Westminster's City Plan that was adopted in November 2016,
STRA 25, TRANS 2, TRANS 3 and TRANS 23 of our Unitary Development Plan that we
adopted in January 2007 and 6.11 in the London Plan adopted in March 2016.

14

You must provide each cycle parking space shown on the approved drawings prior to
occupation. Thereafter the cycle spaces must be retained and the space used for no other
purpose without the prior written consent of the local planning authority.
Reason:
To provide cycle parking spaces for people using the development as set out in Policy 6.9
(Table 6.3) of the London Plan 2016 (R22FA)

15

Before anyone moves into the property, you must provide the separate stores for waste and
materials for recycling shown on drawing number P1-100 P3. You must clearly mark them and
make them available at all times to everyone using the building. (C14FB)
Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste as set out in S44 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 12 of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R14BD)

16

Prior to occupation of any of the new flats, you must paint the internal walls of the lightwells
white. The walls must then be retained white thereafter.
Reason:
To help improve the living environment of the flats, as set out in S29 of Westminster's City Plan

Page 69

Item No.
2

(November 2016) and ENV 14 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January
2007.
17

You must not occupy the flats hereby approved until we have approved appropriate
arrangements to secure the following:
- Lifetime (25 years) car club membership for each residential unit.
You must include in the arrangements details of when you will provide the benefits, and how
you will guarantee this timing. You must only carry out the development according to the
approved arrangements.
Reason:
To make sure that the development provides the planning benefits that have been agreed, as
set out in S33 of Westminster's City Plan adopted November 2016 and in STRA25 and
TRANS23 of our Unitary Development Plan adopted January 2007.

18

The glass that you put in the north west facing windows must not be clear glass, and you must
fix them permanently shut. You must apply to us for approval of a sample of the glass (at least
300mm square). You must not start work on the relevant part of the development until we have
approved the sample. You must then fit the type of glass we have approved and must not
change it without our permission. (C21DB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of the people in the residential part of the development, and so that
the proposals do not jeopardise the future development of the adjacent site, given the location
of the windows along the boundary of the site, where the windows can be afforded limited
protection. This is as set out in S29 and S32 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and
ENV 13 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R21CC)

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016), Unitary Development Plan, neighbourhood plan (where relevant),
supplementary planning documents, planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well
as offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

Page 70

Item No.
2

2

With regards to condition 9, you are advised that the strong expectation is that the balustrading
will be formed by black metal uprights beneath a flat handrail

3

HIGHWAYS LICENSING:
Under the Highways Act 1980 you must get a licence from us before you put skips or
scaffolding on the road or pavement. It is an offence to break the conditions of that licence. You
may also have to send us a programme of work so that we can tell your neighbours the likely
timing of building activities. For more advice, please phone our Highways Licensing Team on
020 7641 2560.
CONSIDERATE CONSTRUCTORS:
You are encouraged to join the nationally recognised Considerate Constructors Scheme. This
commits those sites registered with the Scheme to be considerate and good neighbours, as well
as clean, respectful, safe, environmentally conscious, responsible and accountable. For more
information please contact the Considerate Constructors Scheme directly on 0800 783 1423,
siteenquiries@ccscheme.org.uk or visit www.ccscheme.org.uk.
BUILDING REGULATIONS:
You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/contact-us-building-control

4

Under the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007, clients, the CDM
Coordinator, designers and contractors must plan, co-ordinate and manage health and safety
throughout all stages of a building project. By law, designers must consider the following:
* Hazards to safety must be avoided if it is reasonably practicable to do so or the risks of the
hazard arising be reduced to a safe level if avoidance is not possible;
* This not only relates to the building project itself but also to all aspects of the use of the
completed building: any fixed workplaces (for example offices, shops, factories, schools etc)
which are to be constructed must comply, in respect of their design and the materials used, with
any requirements of the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992. At the
design stage particular attention must be given to incorporate safe schemes for the methods of
cleaning windows and for preventing falls during maintenance such as for any high level plant.
Preparing a health and safety file is an important part of the regulations. This is a record of
information for the client or person using the building, and tells them about the risks that have to
be managed during future maintenance, repairs or renovation. For more information, visit the
Health and Safety Executive website at www.hse.gov.uk/risk/index.htm.
It is now possible for local authorities to prosecute any of the relevant parties with respect to
non compliance with the CDM Regulations after the completion of a building project, particularly
if such non compliance has resulted in a death or major injury.

5

Page 71

Item No.
2

The CLP required by condition 12 shall ensure that no loading/ unloading of construction
vehicles would take place from the site's frontage of A41 Park Road, and the existing loading
bay on Park Road shall not be used by construction vehicle at all time. No skip/ construction
materials shall also be kept on the footway/ carriageway of A41 Park Road, and its footway/
carriageway must not be blocked/ obstruction through the construction/ renovation phase of the
proposal. The CLP shall also include details to ensure the safety of road users on the TLRN, in
particular vulnerable road users like pedestrians and cyclists as well as commitment only to
employ FORS accredited suppliers and contractors to ensure safety best practice. This would
also helps to minimise highway impact to the TLRN.

6

The sound insulation in each new unit of a residential conversion should meet the standards set
out in the current Building Regulations Part E and associated approved documents. Please
contact our District Surveyors' Services if you need more advice. (Phone 020 7641 7240 or
020 7641 7230). (I58AA)

7

The Council considers that the amount of daylight into and the view that is likely from the
ligthwell windows would not be enough for the use of these rooms as main living areas. (You
are recommended to refer to the Housing Health and Safety Rating System - Housing Act 2004
guidance to obtain full details about the requirement for natural lighting and reasonable view.)
The proposals have been accepted because the flat as a whole has enough main rooms with
adequate daylight and reasonable views, and on the basis that the flat will be used as a single
self-contained unit by one household. If any occupier in the future was to consider using the
flat in a different way - for example, with those rooms referred to above (as having limited
daylight and views) being used as living rooms or as living/bedrooms e.g. for staff
accommodation, the flat is likely to be considered for action under the Housing Act 2004 by our
Residential Environmental Health team; in those circumstances, that team would have the
power to require works to improve daylight to the affected rooms or alternatively, where this is
not practicable, to prohibit their use.

8

Due to their location, you are advised that the windows located along the north western
boundary of the site can be afforded limited protection should development proposals come
forward which would affect their levels of light and/ or outlook.

9

Under condition 17, we are likely to accept a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town
and County Planning Act to secure funding for car club membership for the flats, as set out in
the email dated 31 January 2019 from Montagu Evans. Please look at the template wordings for
planning obligations (listed under 'Supplementary planning guidance') on our website at
www.westminster.gov.uk. Once the wording of the agreement has been finalised with our Legal
and Administrative Services, you should write to us for approval of this way forward under this
planning condition. (I77AA)

Page 72

Agenda Item 3
Item No.
3

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

19 February 2019

For General Release

Report of

Ward(s) involved

Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing

St James's

Subject of Report

Whitcomb Street Carpark, 39 - 41 Whitcomb Street, London, WC2H
7DT,

Proposal

Continued use of Levels 12 - 16 of car park (sui generis) as temporary
office, construction welfare and storage area (sui generis) with
screening to elevations associated with the construction of the Leicester
Square Hotel opposite until 1 June 2020

Agent

Jones Lang Lassalle Ltd

On behalf of

Edwardian Pastoria Hotels Ltd

Registered Number

18/07140/FULL

Date Application
Received

21 August 2018

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Haymarket

1.

Date amended/
completed

21 August 2018

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission.
2.

SUMMARY

This retrospective application relates to a multi-storey car park owned by the Council and leased to a
parking operator. The public car parking is part of a 1960’s mixed-use development located in the
Central Activities Zone, the West End Stress Area and the Haymarket Conservation Area.
Retrospective permission is sought for a temporary period for the use of 5 floors of the car park as a
site office, construction welfare and storage area (sui generis) in connection with the construction
works at the Leicester Square Hotel nearby. The application includes screening to the car park
elevations. The use started on 1 December 2015 and is proposed to continue until 1 June 2020. The
application was submitted following investigations by the Planning Enforcement Team.
Objections have been received from residents in Huguenot House, the residential tower block above
the public car park, on the grounds of loss of car parking spaces, inappropriate use, noise,
detrimental impact to the appearance of the building and the local environment, security and fire
safety, impact on building services, breach of planning control and breach of lease.

Page 73

Item No.
3

The key issues to be considered are:





The acceptability of temporary loss of public car parking spaces;
The acceptability of the proposed temporary sui generis use at this location;
The impact of the proposals on the amenity of the neighbouring residential occupiers; and
The impact of the proposals on the character and appearance of the Haymarket Conservation
Area

Notwithstanding the objections raised, taking into account the use, the location within the CAZ and
the temporary nature of the proposals they are considered to comply with the relevant policies in the
Unitary Development Plan adopted in January 2007 (the UDP) and the Westminster’s City Plan
adopted in November 2016. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the
conditions set out in the draft decision letter.

Page 74

Item No.
3

3.

LOCATION PLAN

..

Page 75

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Item No.
3

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Page 76

Item No.
3

5.

CONSULTATIONS

WESTMINSTER SOCIETY: No response to date.
SOHO SOCIETY: No response to date.
WASTE PROJECT OFFICER: Drawings not in line with the Council recycling and waste
storage requirements.
HIGHWAYS PLANNING MANAGER: No objection.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH: No objection in principle.
BUILDING CONTROL: No adverse comments, there are aspects of the fire safety and
means of escape issues that are being dealt with under a retrospective (Regularisation)
Building Regulations application.
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 72
No. of replies: 6 (Huguenot House Association and 5 neighbours)
No. of objections: 6
No. in support: 0
The letters of objection are on the following grounds:
Land use
-Inappropriate change of use.
-Existing empty office space in the building should have accommodated the proposed
use.
-Loss of public car parking spaces.
Design
-The screening detracts from the appearance of the building and the wider area.
-The proposal attracts anti-social behaviour.
Amenity
-Disturbance during construction works with disregard Council’s working hours and noise
levels
-Noise linked with activity
*Other matters
-Questions raised as to whether Q-Park are able to sublet, the timing of the breach of
planning and why notice wasn’t served on relevant bodies including Westminster
Council.
-Fire safety concerns.
-Significant increase in waste and use of water.

Page 77

Item No.
3

-Process of planning notification not efficient.
-Concerns raised about noisy construction work.
-Lack of natural light or fresh air to offices.
HUGUENOT HOUSE RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION
Object on the following grounds:
-unacceptable change of use for financial gain
-challenge the sui generis description
-loss of car parking spaces and future demands for parking and in particular off-sreet
parking
-car parking under-used because of construction works
-lack of aesthetic considerations
-cause justification to demolish and redevelopment of Huguenot House
-security concerns (unauthorised access to telephone rooms)
PRESS ADVERTISEMENT / SITE NOTICE: Yes
6.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

6.1

The Application Site
The 1960’s building consists of a concrete framed podium with a slab block tower above
known as Huguenot House and occupies an entire island site surrounded by Panton
Street, Orange Street, Whitcomb Street and Oxendon Street. It is a mixed use site with a
cinema and a public car park at ground, first, second and underground levels and offices
and 35 residential flats on the upper levels. The site lies in the Central Activities Zone,
the Haymarket Conservation Area and the West End Stress Area.
The application relates to the public car park element which is over 17 split levels at
ground, first, second and four basement levels. They are identified as levels 1 to 16 and
provide 247 car parking spaces. The car park is leased to Q Park and the Council are
the freeholders of the site. Vehicular and pedestrian accesses to the car park is from
Whitcomb Street.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
None.

7.

THE PROPOSAL
This application follows a planning enforcement investigation for unauthorised change of
use of part of the public car park.
The use to which this application relates commenced in December 2015 when two car
park levels were used as temporary staff welfare rooms and office space by the
contractor operating on the adjacent development site at land bounded by Leicester
Square, Panton Street, Whitcomb Street, Orange Street and St. Martin's Street (known
as the Leicester Square Hotel).

Page 78

Item No.
3

From April 2018 three additional car park levels have been used as temporary office,
construction welfare facilities and storage areas (sui generis) as storage and staff space
requirements increased. Retrospective permission is sought for this temporary use until
1 June 2020. The proposed use includes office space, staff meeting rooms, toilets,
changing area, cloakroom, storage space, canteen and a waste and recycling area.
The proposed use occupies 2200 sqm of car park floorspace which results in a reduction
of 56 car parking spaces. This is a public car park and there is no allocation of spaces
for the residents at Huguenot House.
As part of the proposals external screening has been installed around the perimeter of
the car park levels.
8.
DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
8.1

Land Use
The loss of public off-street car parking for a temporary period is assessed against
Policy TRANS25 of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP). This policy states that the City
Council will usually permit the loss of public off-street parking but the following factors
will be considered:
1 the need to reduce traffic levels and encourage more sustainable modes of transport
2 the average and peak usage of the car park
3 the availability of alternative, nearby public car parks
4 the impact on local on-street parking facilities
5 the impact on traffic and local residential amenity
6 any other factors considered relevant.
A key argument put forward by the applicant for the temporary loss of the public car park
spaces is that the car park is underused. An independent study was carried out during a
week in April 2016 on behalf of Corporate Property. Based on a maximum capacity of
247 spaces the survey shows that that peak utilisation was on a Saturday with 49% of
car parking spaces occupied and the rest of the week the peak utilisation was equal or
below 30% (with average utilisation below 20%). Therefore the 120 cars counted at peak
time on a Saturday during the survey would still find spaces to park as 191 car parking
spaces are retained as part of this scheme. It is accepted that construction works may
have been operational at this time at the proposed Leicester Square Hotel. However the
impact from these construction works is unlikely to have had a major impact on the
operation of the car park as vehicular access to the car park would have been
maintained.
Objectors disagree that the car park has been underused and comment on the future
additional demand for off-street car parking spaces identifying it as a valuable public
asset.
The letters of objection refer to the lack of alternative off-street parking facilities.
However there are 11 alternative public car parks located within one kilometre of the
application site and four of them are less than 400 meters away.

Page 79

Item No.
3

Given the temporary nature of the loss, the under-use of the car park and alternative
facilities within close proximity, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of Policy
TRANS 25. The Highways Planning Manager does not object to the proposal.
Objections have been received that the proposed temporary office, construction welfare
and storage area use is an inappropriate use and that existing empty office space in the
building (one letter also mentioned empty offices in the area) should be used instead.
Suspicion that the applicant has been discouraged to the use the empty office
accommodation in Huguenot House is also pointed out. The residents’ concerns that the
existing empty office space above the car park should be used are understood.
However, it is understood that this office space is managed separately from the car park.
Despite this, permission has been sought for the use of the car park for the temporary
use and the Council must assess the scheme as submitted on its own merits.
It is considered that the proposed temporary site office and associated facilities use are
in accordance with City Plan Policy S1 which within the CAZ promotes a mix of uses
consistent with supporting its vitality, function and character and Policy S47 which states
that the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of
sustainable development.
Furthermore consideration needs to be given to the benefits of the proposal in terms of
providing construction welfare facilities for a large redevelopment. These facilities need
to be located in close proximity to the construction site and in this central location
alternative options may be limited. Alternative options for the welfare facilities, such as
on the public highway, may have been inconvenient to pedestrians to vehicular traffic
and and modular cabins may have been harmful to the visual amenity of the area. In
conclusion the location of the office, storage space and construction welfare facilities
within the existing public car park enables construction works at nearby site to operate
efficiently and is likely to have less impact on local pedestrian and vehicular traffic. The
proposals are considered to be compliant with policy TRANS 25 of the UDP.
8.2

Townscape and Design
Objectors are concerned that the partitions around the edge of the car park levels to
accommodate the temporary use have adversely affected the appearance of the
building. The works have been described as ugly, an eyesore and creating a canyon
affect in the street. Objectors consider this adversely affects the local environment
making it less safe and attracting anti-social behaviour.
This 1960s multi-storey car park is a modernist structure with a utilitarian appearance.

The car parking decks going up the structure are easily identified. There are simple
metal railings fixed to the top of the parapet at the each deck. The area between each
deck was originally open, and created a light (parapet wall at edge of deck) and dark
(airspace) horizontal banding up the elevations. White panels have been installed to
enclose each deck and create workspace. The panels installed at the lower levels of the
structure (levels 12-14) have been set behind the railings atop the parapet wall and it is
clear that they are infilling the airspace between the parapet/railing of one deck and the
underside of the one above. The partitions installed at levels 15 and 16 are set back
from the parapet at the edge of the parking decks and are not visible from street level. It

Page 80

Item No.
3

is considered that this simple, temporary solution remains subservient to the parking
decks and maintains the alternating horizontal banding up the elevations.
On both days of site visits no graffiti could be seen and the streets surrounding the
garage did not appear particularly dirty.
Given the temporary nature of the proposal, it is not considered that any objections on
design grounds could be justifiably sustained.
8.3

Residential Amenity
Objections have been received from residents in Huguenot House on grounds of noise
and disturbance. It is not clear whether the noise relates to activity relating to the current
proposal or from the construction works relating to the Leicester Square Hotel.
The use of the premises as a site office, storage space and construction welfare facilities
is unlikely to give rise to significant noise disturbance given that the facilities have been
internalised (as a result of the external partitions) and the lack of noisy activity
associated to use. It is not considered reasonable to limit the hours of use of the
premises given that the public car park is open 24h a day and that the proposed activity
is linked to the construction works on the adjoining site. Our standard noise condition is
recommended to prevent noise outbreak from the site.
In addition Huguenot House and the public car park have separate accesses and the
two uses are clearly separated. It is therefore not considered sustainable to refuse
permission on a deteriorated quality of life for the residents at Huguenot House.
In this context it is considered that the proposed use is acceptable for a temporary
period and would on that basis accord with policies S29 and S32 of the City Plan and
Policies ENV 6 and ENV13 in the Unitary Development Plan.

8.4

Transportation/Parking
The proposal does not raise any significant transport implications beyond those
considered under paragraph 8.1.

8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size

8.6

Access
The car and pedestrian accesses to the public car parking remains as existing.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Waste
Three residents in Huguenot House make reference to an increase in waste arising from
the use. The drawings submitted with the application show an area dedicated to waste

Page 81

Item No.
3

and recycling. This is considered acceptable in principle however the applicant will need
to confirm the bin capacities for the storage of residual waste and recyclable materials. It
is considered that this information can be secured by condition. Subject to this condition
it is not considered reasonable to refuse this application on lack of waste and recycling
management.
City Plan
The City Council is currently working on a complete review of its City Plan. Informal
consultation on the first draft of Westminster’s City Plan 2019-2040 started on Monday
12th November 2018 and closed on Friday 21st December 2018. Following this informal
consultation, any representations received will be considered and the draft plan will be
revised in advance of formal consultation under regulation of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Given the very early stage of
the consultation process and having regard to the tests set out in para. 48 of the NPPF,
the policies of the emerging draft City Plan are given little to no weight at the present
time.
8.8

Neighbourhood Plans
Not applicable.

8.9

London Plan
This application raises no strategic issues.

8.10 National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan and UDP policies referred to in the consideration of this application are
considered to be consistent with the NPPF unless stated otherwise.
8.11 Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.
8.12 Environmental Impact Assessment
The proposal is of insufficient scale to require an Environmental Impact Assessment.
8.13

Other Issues
Lawfulness
The letters of objection question whether there has been a breach of lease with the
parking operator sub-letting part of the car park and the breach of planning. The letters
raise concerns about collusion between the Council, the parking operator and the
applicant about that a planning application was only submitted after enforcement action/
e so no application has been submitted. There are also concerns that the proposed
temporary change of use will be used to justify the redevelopment of the entire building.

Page 82

Item No.
3

The Corporate Property department of the Council has confirmed that they were
informed of the sub-letting and as landlord they could not reasonably object to an
underletting. First because of the nature of the use. The “Permitted Use” under the
parking operator‘s lease is for parking, offices and storage, any other use now or
previously carried on at the premises, private storage. In addition they consented to an
underletting to help generate new source revenue as the parking operator is obligated to
pay the Council a rent. Issues regarding lease are not covered by planning legislation so
requesting a full disclosure of the lease and subletting documents is not considered
reasonable for the assessment of this application and it is not considered reasonable to
withhold permission on lease grounds.
With regards to concerns about creating a precedent for similar types of planning
application and justification to redevelop the whole building, the public car parking
spaces is a sui-generis use and any future change of use would need planning
permission and have to be assessed on a case-by-case basis.
Planning laws allow retrospective planning applications. This is at the applicant’s risk but
a retrospective application is assessed on the planning merits of the scheme in the same
way as any other application. Refusing the proposal because it has been submitted after
the commencement of the use would not be reasonable.
The retrospective application follows an enforcement investigation by the Planning
EnforcementTeamCouncil. It is not known why permission has not been applied prior to
the commencement of the use but the enforcement process clearly shows impartiality of
the Council when dealing with planning breach and applications.
Fire safety
One of the main concerns raised by objectors is a potential lack of fire safety
arrangements, in particular when the fire alarm of the car park is triggered. A review of
the Council’s records reveals that there have been noise complaints about the car park
alarm. However the car park alarm is different from the independent fire alarm system
that is installed at the application premises. In addition, the applicant advises that the
principal contractor responsible for the construction of the Leicester Square Hotel is
responsible for the use of the space and is required to comply with Health and Safety
legislation in relation to the use and means of escape of the designed spaces. Officers
have been advised that the current fire alarm system within the premises was last
serviced in September 2018 and that fire checks are undertaken by the principal
contractor on all fire points and extinguishers on a weekly basis. In the event of an
alarm, fire wardens are responsible for clearing a maximum of 206 persons from the
offices and welfare spaces. Building Control advise that there are aspects of the fire
safety and means of escape issues that are being dealt with under a retrospective
(Regularisation) Building Regulations application. This information is considered
sufficient to understand that fire safety has been taken into consideration. A refusal on
fire safety grounds would not be warranted under the Council’s planning policies.
Crime and security
Safety has also been raised in the objection letters due to change in appearance of the
public car park favouring anti-social behaviour and unauthorised access to the building.

Page 83

Item No.
3

The Council’s Environmental Health officer has been consulted and responded that there
has been no records of associated public nuisance and/or public safety complaints
during the period that the car park has been occupied by the applicant.
There is a separate access between the public car park and Huguenot House. Only part
of the car park space is used by the applicant and they will have no access to the other
parts of the building. In addition the agent advises that they are proposing to install a
security alarm which will be monitored by the project site security team.
The activity at ground floor level remains as existing with the parking operating 24 hours
a day 7 days a week and there no evidence link between the proposed use and antisocial behaviour. It is therefore not considered reasonable to refuse permission on safety
grounds for a temporary use at upper levels.
Consultation process
The efficiency of the consultation process has been queried in one of the objection
letters. Letters to Huguenot House and all the neighbouring buildings directly facing the
application site have been consulted, which is a total of 72 consultees. The letters were
sent on the 24th of August 2018. In addition a site notice was put up and the application
was advertised in a local newspaper. This was detailed to the objector via email on the
31st of August 2018. It is therefore considered that the consultation process has been
carried out appropriately.
Services
Concerns have been expressed with regards to the increase in use of water in the
building. This would have to be addressed under Building Regulations and cannot be a
reason to withhold planning permission.
(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: DAVID DORWARD BY EMAIL AT mmason@westminster.gov.uk.

Page 84

Item No.
3

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing Whitcomb Street elevation

Proposed Whitcomb Street elevation

Page 85

Item No.
3

Existing Orange Street elevation

Proposed Orange Street elevation

Page 86

Item No.
3

Existing Oxendon Street elevation

Proposed Oxendon Street elevation

Page 87

Item No.
3

Existing Panton Street elevation

Proposed Panton Street elevation

Page 88

Item No.
3

Existing levels 9 and 10

Page 89

Item No.
3

Existing levels 11 and 12

Proposed levels 11 and 12

Page 90

Item No.
3

Existing levels 13 and 14

Proposed levels 13 and 14

Page 91

Item No.
3

Existing levels 15 and 16

Proposed levels 15 and 16

Page 92

Item No.
3

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Whitcomb Street Carpark, 39 - 41 Whitcomb Street, London, WC2H 7DT,

Proposal:

Use from car park (Sui Generis Use) to temporary office, construction welfare and
storage area (Sui Generis Use) associated with the construction of the Leicester
Square Hotel opposite until 1 June 2020 (retrospective).

Reference:

18/07140/FULL

Plan Nos:

1822/P/600; 1822/P/609; 1822/P/611; 1822/P/613; 1822/P/615; 1822/P/631;
1822/P/632; 1822/P/633; 1822/P/634; 1822/P/6209; 1822/P/6211; 1822/P/6213;
1822/P/6214; 1822/P/6311; 1822/P/6312; 1822/P/6313; 1822/P/6314.
For information only: Design and access statement dated August 2018; Planning
statement dated August 2018.

Case Officer:

Direct Tel. No.

Aurore Manceau

020 7641 7013

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)
1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

All new work to the outside of the building must match existing original work in terms of the
choice of materials, method of construction and finished appearance. This applies unless
differences are shown on the drawings we have approved or are required by conditions to this
permission. (C26AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Haymarket Conservation Area. This is as set out
in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6
or both and paras 10.108 to 10.128 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007. (R26BE)

3

The temporary use allowed by this permission can continue until the 1st of June 2020. After that
the land must return to its previous condition and all associated structures must be removed.
Reason:
The use is not as set out in DES1, DES 5 and TRANS25 of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. Use for more than a limited period would be harmful to the
objectives of the Plan. (R03AB)

Page 93

Item No.
3

4

Within one month of this decision you must apply to us for approval of details of how waste is
going to be stored on the site and how materials for recycling will be stored separately. Within
one month of our decision you must then provide the stores for waste and materials for
recycling according to these details, clearly mark the stores and make them available at all
times to everyone using the sui generis use.

Reason:
To protect the environment and provide suitable storage for waste as set out in S44 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and ENV 12 of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007. (R14BD)
(1) Where noise emitted from the proposed internal activity in the development will not contain
tones or will not be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the internal
activity within the sui generis use hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest, shall
not at any time exceed a value of 10 dB below the minimum external background noise,
at a point 1 metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive
property, unless and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved by the City Council.
The background level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during
the permitted hours of use. The activity-specific noise level should be expressed as
LAeqTm,, and shall be representative of the activity operating at its noisiest., , (2) Where
noise emitted from the proposed internal activity in the development will contain tones or
will be intermittent, the 'A' weighted sound pressure level from the internal activity within
the sui generis use hereby permitted, when operating at its noisiest, shall not at any time
exceed a value of 15 dB below the minimum external background noise, at a point 1
metre outside any window of any residential and other noise sensitive property, unless
and until a fixed maximum noise level is approved by the City Council. The background
level should be expressed in terms of the lowest LA90, 15 mins during the permitted
hours of use. The activity-specific noise level should be expressed as LAeqTm, and shall
be representative of the activity operating at its noisiest., , (3) Following completion of
the development, you may apply in writing to the City Council for a fixed maximum noise
level to be approved. This is to be done by submitting a further noise report including a
proposed fixed noise level for approval by the City Council. Your submission of a noise
report must include:, (a) The location of most affected noise sensitive receptor location
and the most affected window of it;, (b) Distances between the application premises and
receptor location/s and any mitigating features that may attenuate the sound level
received at the most affected receptor location;, (c) Measurements of existing LA90, 15
mins levels recorded one metre outside and in front of the window referred to in (a)
above (or a suitable representative position), at times when background noise is at its
lowest during the permitted hours of use. This acoustic survey to be conducted in
conformity to BS 7445 in respect of measurement methodology and procedures;, (d) The
lowest existing LA90, 15 mins measurement recorded under (c) above;, (e)
Measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that the activity complies
with the planning condition;, (f) The proposed maximum noise level to be emitted by the
activity.
Reason:
Because existing external ambient noise levels exceed WHO Guideline Levels and as
set out in ENV 6 (1), (6) and (8) and ENV 7 (A)(1) of our Unitary Development Plan that
we adopted in January 2007 (UDP), so that the noise environment of people in noise
sensitive properties is protected, including the intrusiveness of tonal and impulsive

Page 94

Item No.
3

sounds; and as set out in S32 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), by
contributing to reducing excessive ambient noise levels. Part (3) is included so that
applicants may ask subsequently for a fixed maximum noise level to be approved in
case ambient noise levels reduce at any time after implementation of the planning
permission. (R47AB)

Informative(s):
1

In
dealingwith
with
application
theCouncil
City Council
has implemented
theinrequirement
in the National
In dealing
thisthis
application
the City
has implemented
the requirement
the National Planning
Policy
Planning
to work
with the
applicant
a positive
and proactive
way. We
have
FrameworkPolicy
to workFramework
with the applicant
in a positive
and
proactive in
way.
We have made
available detailed
advice
in
made
detailed
advice
in the formCity
of our
in Westminster's
the formavailable
of our statutory
policies
in Westminster's
Planstatutory
(Novemberpolicies
2016), Unitary
Development City
Plan, Plan
Supplementary2016),
Planning
documents,
planning briefs
andSupplementary
other informal written
guidance,
as well as offering
a full
(November
Unitary
Development
Plan,
Planning
documents,
planning
pre application
advice
service,written
in order guidance,
to ensure thatas
applicant
been given
every
to submit
briefs
and other
informal
well ashas
offering
a full
preopportunity
application
advicean
applicationinwhich
likely
to be that
considered
favourably.
In addition,
further
guidancean
was offered
service,
orderis to
ensure
applicant
has been
givenwhere
everyappropriate,
opportunity
to submit
to
the
applicant
at
the
validation
stage.
application which is likely to be considered favourably. In addition, where appropriate, further
guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation stage.
You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in relation to Westminster
Building Control services can be found on our website https://www.westminster.gov.uk/contact-us-building-control

2

You are advised that the works are likely to require building regulations approval. Details in
relation to Westminster Building Control services can be found on our website
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/contact-us-building-control

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Item No.
4

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

19 February 2019

For General Release

Report of

Ward(s) involved

Executive Director Growth Planning and Housing

Bayswater

Subject of Report

8 Monmouth Road, London, W2 5SB

Proposal

Erection of rear boundary wall.

Agent

Aspect Property Services Limited

On behalf of

Mr Charles Payne

Registered Number

18/05450/FULL

Date Application
Received

28 June 2018

Historic Building Grade

Unlisted

Conservation Area

Westbourne

1.

Date amended/
completed

12 November
2018

RECOMMENDATION

Grant conditional permission.

2.

SUMMARY

The application site is one half of a three storey unlisted semi-detached villa within the Westbourne
Conservation Area. Planning permission is sought for the erection of a 2.5m high rear boundary wall.
The applicant is a relative of Councillor Payne.
The key issues in this case are:



The impact of the proposed wall on the character and appearance of the Westbourne
Conservation Area.
The impact of the proposal on the amenity of neighbouring residents.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in design and amenity terms and would accord with
Policies S25, S28 and S29 in Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) (the City Plan) and Policies
ENV13, DES 1, DES 5, DES 7 and DES 9 in the Unitary Development Plan (January 2007) (the
UDP).

Page 97

Item No.
4

3.

LOCATION PLAN

..
This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 98

Item No.
4

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Views of adjacent rear boundaries at Nos.6 and 10 Monmouth Road in context with the cleared site
to the rear at Nos.34-36 Hereford Road.

Page 99

Item No.
4

5.

CONSULTATIONS
BAYSWATER RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION
Any response to be reported verbally
ADJOINING OWNERS/OCCUPIERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
No. Consulted: 7.
Total No. of replies: 1.
No. of objections: 1.
No. in support: 0.
One email received raising objection on the grounds that the foundations of the
proposed wall would encroach 200mm onto the site behind (34-36 Hereford Road) and
that this presents structural implications.
ADVERTISEMENT/ SITE NOTICE
Yes.

6.
6.1

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Application Site
The application site is one half of a three storey unlisted 1840s semi-detached villa
within the Westbourne Conservation Area. The property used as a single dwellinghouse
and is undergoing refurbishment at present pursuant to the permissions granted in
recent years (see Section 6.2).

6.2

Recent Relevant History
16/05882/FULL
Erection of a single-storey rear extension at first floor level.
Application Granted
19 December 2016
16/04450/FULL
Basement with front and rear lightwells and alterations to front elevation, single storey
rear extension to replace existing conservatory.
Application Refused
11 July 2016
An appeal was allowed on 1 March 2017.
16/10459/FULL
Erection of second floor front infill extension.
Application Refused
8 December 2016
An appeal was dismissed on 1 March 2017.
17/03961/FULL
Erection of second floor front infill extension.
Application Refused
21 June 2017
An appeal was dismissed on 20 December 2017.

Page 100

Item No.
4

18/04040/FULL
Erection of single storey side/ front infill extension at second floor level and installation of
glazed balustrade at rear of third floor roof.
Application Refused
4 September 2018
7.

THE PROPOSAL
Permission is sought for erection of a 2.5 metre high boundary wall at the end of the rear
garden of the property. No boundary currently exits as the building which previously
formed this boundary has been demolished as part of the implementation of a planning
permission to redevelop the site at Nos.34-36 Hereford Road. The height of the
proposed wall has been amended to reduce its height during the course of the
application.

8.

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Land Use
No land use considerations are relevant to the determination of the application.

8.2

Townscape and Design
Although relatively high for a garden wall at 2.5m in height, the proposed wall replaces a
much larger wall which comprised the rear wall of a now demolished warehouse
structure that formally stood to the rear of the site at Nos.34-36 Hereford Road. The
adjacent property (No.10 Monmouth Road) has a garden room at the rear of their
garden, the rear wall of the garden room, which forms the rear boundary of that property
with Nos.34-36 Hereford Road is approximately 3m in height.
Set in the context, the proposed wall is not considered to be excessive in height and it
would be appropriately detailed in terms of its detailed design. A condition is
recommended to ensure the brickwork used matches the brickwork used in the
construction of the adjacent boundary wall between Nos.6 and 8 Monmouth Road.
Accordingly, the proposed wall is acceptable in design terms and would comply with
Policies S25 and S28 in the City Plan and Policies DES 1, DES 5, DES 7 and DES9 in
the UDP.

8.3

Residential Amenity
Planning permission was granted in 2012 for the redevelopment of the site to the rear of
the application site at Nos.34-36 Hereford Road. The development, which has been
implemented but not substantially completed at the current time, includes two new
dwellinghouses to the rear of the site abutting the rear boundary of the properties in
Monmouth Road. The proposed rear wall would be 0.3m higher than wall enclosing the
rear courtyard of one of the new dwellinghouses on the site at Nos.34-36 Hereford
Road; however, it would be lower than a translucent structural glass screen which has
been approved above the masonry wall. Consequently, It is not considered that this
would result in any significant reduction on residential amenity to the new dwellinghouse

Page 101

Item No.
4

on the adjacent site in terms of increased enclosure or loss of light. As such, the
proposed wall is acceptable in amenity terms and would accord with Policy ENV13 in the
UDP and S29 in the City Plan.
8.4

Transportation/ Parking
The proposal does not raise any transportation or parking issues.

8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size.

8.6

Access
The proposal does not raise any access issues.

8.7

Other UDP/Westminster Policy Considerations
Not applicable

8.8

Westminster City Plan
The City Council is currently working on a complete review of its City Plan. Informal
consultation on the first draft of Westminster’s City Plan 2019-2040 started on Monday
12 November 2018 and closed on Friday 21 December 2018. Following this informal
consultation, the representations received are being considered and the draft plan will be
revised in advance of formal consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Given the very early stage of
the consultation process and having regard to the tests set out in para. 48 of the NPPF,
the policies of the emerging draft City Plan are given little to no weight at the present
time.

8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
There is not currently a neighbourhood plan in place for the area of the City in which the
application site is located.

8.10

London Plan
The application does not raise any strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan and UDP policies referred to in the consideration of this application are
considered to be consistent with the NPPF unless stated otherwise.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Planning obligations are not relevant in the determination of this application.

Page 102

Item No.
4

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
The application is of insufficient scale to require an environmental impact assessment.

8.14

Other Issues
One objection has been received on the grounds that the wall foundation encroaches
200mm onto the site behind (34-36 Hereford Road) and that this raises structural
implications for the carrying out of the continued redevelopment of the adjoining site.
The applicant has confirmed that the wall itself would be wholly within the curtilage of
No.8 Monmouth Road, although the ‘toe’ of the foundations would extend 200mm
beyond the boundary line, as suggested by the objector. The foundations would though
be located within the red line shown on the site location plan and the appropriate notice
of the application was served on adjacent land owners under Certificate B of the
application form prior to submission of the application.
The incursion of the foundations by 200mm in to the adjoining site, below ground level,
does not though raise any considerations that render the proposed wall unacceptable in
planning terms. Whilst the foundations proposed would necessitate them being cut back
or structurally altered in some form in future, to accommodate the approved
redevelopment of the site at Nos.34-36 Hereford Road, this does not justify withholding
planning permission; rather, it is a private matter for resolution between the respective
land owners.

The relatively simple wall construction is likely to be able to be built without any
detrimental structural implications for surrounding properties.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: OLIVER GIBSON BY EMAIL AT ogibson@westminster.gov.uk

Page 103

Item No.
4

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing and proposed plans and proposed section.

Page 104

Item No.
4

Existing and proposed elevations.

Page 105

Item No.
4

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

8 Monmouth Road, London, W2 5SB,

Proposal:

Erection of rear boundary wall.

Plan Nos:
Case Officer:

Site location plan, 2095.1 Rev.E and 2095.2 Rev.B.
Direct Tel. No.

Richard Langston

020 7641 7923

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and
other documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the
City Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

Except for piling, excavation and demolition work, you must carry out any building work which
can be heard at the boundary of the site only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday;
o
between 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturday; and
o
not at all on Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
You must carry out piling, excavation and demolition work only:
o
between 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
o
not at all on Saturdays, Sundays, bank holidays and public holidays.
Noisy work must not take place outside these hours unless otherwise agreed through a Control
of Pollution Act 1974 section 61 prior consent in special circumstances (for example, to meet
police traffic restrictions, in an emergency or in the interests of public safety). (C11AB)
Reason:
To protect the environment of residents and the area generally as set out in S29 of
Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and STRA 25, TRANS 23, ENV 5 and ENV 6 of our
Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007. (R11AC)

3

The facing brickwork used in the construction of the boundary wall shall match brickwork to the
existing boundary wall between Nos.6 and 8 Monmouth Road in terms of its colour, texture,
face bond and pointing. (C26AA)
Reason:
To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes to the
character and appearance of this part of the Westbourne Conservation Area. This is as set out
in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 and DES 5 or DES 6

Page 106

Item No.
4

or both and paras 10.108 to 10.128 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in
January 2007. (R26BE)

Informative(s):
1

In dealing with this application the City Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We have
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in Westminster's City Plan
(November 2016), Unitary Development Plan, neighbourhood plan (where relevant),
supplementary planning documents, planning briefs and other informal written guidance, as well
as offering a full pre application advice service, in order to ensure that applicant has been given
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. In
addition, where appropriate, further guidance was offered to the applicant at the validation
stage.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Item No.
5

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS SUB
COMMITTEE

Date

Classification

19 February 2019

For General Release

Report of

Ward(s) involved

Director of Place Shaping and Town Planning

Hyde Park

Subject of Report

Second Floor Flat, 19 Westbourne Street, London, W2 2TZ

Proposal

1. Amendments to planning permission dated 4 September 2018 (RN:
18/06281/FULL) for the: Replacement of rear elevation metal window at
second floor level with new timber window. NAMELY, to amend the
window design.
2. Variation of Condition 1 of listed building consent dated 4 September
2018 (RN: 18/06282/LBC) for the replacement of rear elevation metal
window at second floor level with a new timber window; NAMELY to
amend the window design.

1.

Agent

None

On behalf of

Ms Gabrielle Giner

Registered Number

18/10390/NMA & 18/10696/LBC

Date Application
Received

10 December 2018 and 17
December 2018

Historic Building Grade

II

Conservation Area

Bayswater

Date
completed

10 December
2018 and 21
December 2018

RECOMMENDATION

1. Agree non-material amendment.
2. Grant conditional listed building consent.
3. Agree reasons for granting conditional listed building consent as set out in Informative 1 on
the draft decision letter.

2.

SUMMARY

These applications are being reported to the Planning Applications Sub-Committee as the applicant
is related to Councillor Devenish.

Page 109

Item No.
5

Permission and listed building consent were granted on 4 September 2018 to replace a non-original
metal framed window in the rear elevation of this Grade II listed building within a timber framed
window. Amendments are now proposed to the detailed design of the replacement window.
The key issue in this case is:
 The impact on the significance of the host listed building and the character and appearance of
the Bayswater Conservation Area.
The proposed amendments are considered acceptable in design and listed building terms and will
safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of this designated heritage asset and this part
of the Bayswater Conservation Area. It is therefore recommended that the non-material amendment
to the original planning permission as agreed and listed building consent is granted for variation of
Condition 1 of the original listed building consent.

Page 110

Item No.
5

3.

LOCATION PLAN
..

This production includes mapping data
licensed from Ordnance Survey with the
permission if the controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright and /or
database rights 2013.
All rights reserved License Number LA
100019597

Page 111

Item No.
5

4.

PHOTOGRAPHS

Existing rear window to be replaced.

Page 112

Item No.
5

5.

CONSULTATIONS
Application 1 – Non Material Amendment Application
No consultations necessary.
Application 2 – Listed Building Consent Application
ADVERTISEMENT/ SITE NOTICE
Yes.

6.
6.1

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Application Site
These applications relate to a second floor flat within this Grade II listed terrace property
located on the east side of Westbourne Street. The application site is located within the
Bayswater Conservation Area.

6.2

Recent Relevant History
18/06281/FULL and 18/06282/LBC
Permission and listed building consent granted to replace existing metal framed window
on rear elevation with a timber framed double glazed window.
Applications Permitted
4 September 2018

7.

THE PROPOSAL
The applicant wishes to amend the approved scheme for the replacement of the rear
window to enable the detailed design of the replacement timber window to be amended.
These applications are being reported to Committee as the applicant is related to an
elected Member Councillor Devenish.
Following the grant of planning permission, an applicant can use the non-material
amendment process under Section 96a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) to make small changes to a previously approved scheme. A linked listed
building consent application has been submitted to vary the wording of Condition 1 of the
original consent to reflect the new window design that is now proposed.
The replacement window now proposed is a tripartite timber framed casement window
measuring 2440mm wide by 1920mm high. The window now proposed differs from that
previously approved in that it has less sub-division, principally to the lower half of the
window.

8.
8.1

DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS
Land Use

Page 113

Item No.
5

These applications do not raise any land use issues.
8.2

Townscape and Design
The key issues are whether the amendments to the window are so minor to constitute a
non-material amendment to the original planning permission and whether these changes
are also acceptable in listed building terms.
There is no statutory definition of what sort of changes might be considered to be nonmaterial as it depends on the circumstance of each case and the decision is taken by the
local planning authority.
In this particular case, the City Council has already agreed to replace this non-original
metal window, which is in a poor condition, with a better quality timber window. This
latest proposal seeks to simply its detailed design; namely, to remove the bottom
horizontal glazing bar and to reduce the number of the top fanlights from four to three.
The replacement window is timber and it is considered to be an improvement compared
to the existing metal window. Therefore, it is considered that this proposed amendment
to the approved design can be treated as a non-material amendment.
In respect of the variation of Condition 1 to the listed building consent, the replacement
window is considered to be a suitable replacement and accord with policies DES1,
DES5, DES9 and DES10 in the UDP and policies S25 and S28 in the City Plan.

8.3

Residential Amenity
It is not considered that this proposal raises any amenity issues for existing residents in
the building or adjoining residents as the window remains the same size as existing. The
proposal therefore accords with Policy ENV13 in the UDP and Policy S29 in the City
Plan.

8.4

Transportation/ Parking
Not relevant in the determination of these applications.

8.5

Economic Considerations
No economic considerations are applicable for a development of this size.

8.6

Access
Not relevant.

8.7

Other UDP/ Westminster Policy Considerations
These applications do not raise any other issues.

8.8

Westminster City Plan

Page 114

Item No.
5

The City Council is currently working on a complete review of its City Plan. Informal
consultation on the first draft of Westminster’s City Plan 2019-2040 started on Monday
12 November 2018 and will close on Friday 21 December 2018. Following this informal
consultation, any representations received will be considered and the draft plan will be
revised in advance of formal consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Given the very early stage of
the consultation process and having regard to the tests set out in para. 48 of the NPPF,
the policies of the emerging draft City Plan are given little to no weight at the present
time.
8.9

Neighbourhood Plans
Not relevant in the determination of these applications.

8.10

London Plan
These applications do not raise any strategic issues.

8.11

National Policy/Guidance Considerations
The City Plan and UDP policies referred to in the consideration of this application are
considered to be consistent with the NPPF unless stated otherwise.

8.12

Planning Obligations
Not applicable.

8.13

Environmental Impact Assessment
Not applicable.

8.14

Other Issues
None relevant.

(Please note: All the application drawings and other relevant documents and Background
Papers are available to view on the Council’s website)
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT THIS REPORT PLEASE CONTACT THE PRESENTING
OFFICER: OLIVER GIBSON BY EMAIL AT ogibson@westminster.gov.uk

Page 115

Item No.
5

9.

KEY DRAWINGS

Existing and proposed drawing approved on 4 September 2018.

Window design now proposed (below).

Page 116

Item No.
5

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Second Floor Flat, 19 Westbourne Street, London, W2 2TZ,

Proposal:

Amendments to planning permission dated 4 September 2018 (RN: 18/06281/FULL)
for the: Replacement of rear elevation metal window at second floor level with new
timber window. NAMELY, to amend the window design. (Linked to 18/10696/LBC).

Reference:

18/10390/NMA

Plan Nos:

Drawings and Documents Approved Under RN: 18/06281/FULL:
Site Location plan, 2927/1, Elevation and section through window and section
through window cill.
As Amended By Drawings and Documents Hereby Approved:
Substitute drawing 2927/1, elevation and section through window and section
through window cill with new un-numbered drawing of the proposed window.

Case Officer:

Direct Tel. No.

Amanda Coulson

020 7641 2875

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s)

Informative(s):

1

The City Council agrees that the amendments to which this decision letter relates are sufficiently
minor in terms of their scale and impact (both individually and cumulatively) in planning terms
having regard to the overall scope of the previously approved development, so as to constitute
non-material amendments to the planning permission dated 4 September 2018. This letter does
not constitute a new planning permission. You must still keep to the terms and conditions of the
original planning permission except where amended by this decision.

Please note: the full text for informatives can be found in the Council’s Conditions, Reasons
& Policies handbook, copies of which can be found in the Committee Room whilst the
meeting is in progress, and on the Council’s website.

Page 117

Item No.
5

DRAFT DECISION LETTER
Address:

Second Floor Flat, 19 Westbourne Street, London, W2 2TZ

Proposal:

Variation of Condition 1 of listed building consent dated 4 September 2018 (RN:
18/06282/LBC) for the replacement of rear elevation metal window at second floor
level with a new timber window; NAMELY, to amend the window design.

Plan Nos:

Drawings and Documents Approved Under RN: 18/06282/LBC:
Site Location plan, 2927/1, Elevation and section through window and section
through window cill.
As Amended By Drawings and Documents Hereby Approved:
Substitute drawing 2927/1, elevation and section through window and section
through window cill with new un-numbered drawing of the proposed window.

Case Officer:

Direct Tel. No.

Amanda Coulson

020 7641 2875

Recommended Condition(s) and Reason(s) or Reason(s) for Refusal:

1

The works hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings and other
documents listed on this decision letter, and any drawings approved subsequently by the City
Council as local planning authority pursuant to any conditions on this decision letter.
Reason:
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

All new work and improvements inside and outside the building must match existing original
adjacent work in terms of the choice of materials, method of construction and finished
appearance. This applies unless differences are shown on the approved drawings or are
required in conditions to this permission. (C27AA)
Reason:
To protect the special architectural or historic interest of this building and to make sure the
development contributes to the character and appearance of the Bayswater Conservation Area.
This is as set out in S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan (November 2016) and DES 1 and
paras 10.108 to 10.146 of our Unitary Development Plan that we adopted in January 2007.
(R27AC)

Informative(s):

Page 118

Item No.
5

1

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR GRANTING CONDITIONAL LISTED BUILDING CONSENT In reaching the decision to grant listed building consent with conditions, the City Council has
had regard to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the London Plan
2016, Westminster's City Plan (November 2016), and the City of Westminster Unitary
Development Plan adopted January 2007, as well as relevant supplementary planning
guidance, representations received and all other material considerations.
The City Council decided that the proposed works would not harm the special architectural and
historic interest of this listed building.
In reaching this decision the following were of particular relevance:
S25 and S28 of Westminster's City Plan and DES 10 including paras 10.130 to 10.146 of the
Unitary Development Plan, and paragraph 2.4 of our Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Repairs and Alterations to Listed Buildings.

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

